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Cheung Siu Lam

Chairman 

The year 2011 witnessed new heights of achievement for China Financial Services Holdings Limited. 
The solid foundation we have built in the past has propelled our performance full speed ahead. 
On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present to the shareholders the 
annual report of China Financial Services Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011. This is the first year the company 
use its new name to publish its annual report and the performance delivered by the Group is 
promising.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$382.1 million, a 
surge of 76.1% against the previous year (2010: HK$217.0 million). Profit attributable to owners 
of the Company grew by 125.6% to HK$57.3 million, compared to HK$25.4 million in 2010. The 
short-term financing business has offered a solid foundation for the business transformation of the 
Group.

During the year, the Company has completed the acquisition of several companies which engaging 
in short-term financing, loan guarantee and provision of financial consultancy services from me and 
the business direction of the Group has become focus on providing financing services to small and 
medium-sized enterprises. With the impact of the weak recovery of the world economy and the 
continuous tightening of domestic monetary policy, it is expected that the economic growth of PRC 
will slow down. This will be beneficial to our Group as tight liquidity will generate massive demand 
for loan financing services in the PRC. The Board remains optimistic about the prospect of our 
short-term financing business. 

For the year 2012, we plan to obtain at least an extra RMB300 million credit from different banks. 
For business development, we will subdivide loans and financing structures and capital layout, and 
promote the development and establishment of professional markets and special channels. We will 
also advocate the principle of rational funding distribution and risk diversification, and provide clear 
guidelines for risk management in terms of size, term, percentage on security for loans to individual 
customers. We also intend to establish a foreign joint venture in Beijing engaging in micro loan 
business. 
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Looking ahead, we plan to double our revenue and increase our loan portfolio to about RMB1.5 
billion and exceed RMB7 billion by 2014, which enable the Company to become a leading premier 
services provider offering comprehensive financing services for SME in the Bohai Gulf Region. We 
are confident that we are on track to continue achieving high growth performance in 2012 and 
beyond. Our ability to leverage our extensive industry experience and develop our intellectual assets 
to expand our solution offerings to our clients will continue to be our key to success. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our shareholders for their continued confidence and 
support, our board of directors, management team and every member of the dedicated staff for 
their hard work and significant contribution in the past years.

Cheung Siu Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2012
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The board of d i rectors (“Board”) of the 
Company is pleased to present this Corporate 
Governance Report in the Group’s Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2011.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
PRACTICES
The Board of the Company considers good 
corporate governance practices to be essential 
to the promotion of shareholder value and 
investor confidence.

The Company has applied the principles as 
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance 
Practices (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”).

Throughout the year  under rev iew, the 
Company has complied with the code provisions 
as set out in the CG Code, save for the 
deviations from code provisions A.1.1 and 
A.5.1, which deviations are explained in the 
relevant paragraphs in this Report.

The Company will continue to enhance its 
corporate governance practices appropriate to 
the conduct and growth of its business and to 
review its corporate governance practices from 
time to time to ensure that they comply with 
the statutory and CG Code and align with the 
latest developments.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for leadership and 
control of the Company and oversees the 
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and 
performance. The Board has delegated to 
the senior management the authority and 
responsibility for the day-to-day management 
and operation of the Group. In addition, the 
Board has established Board committees and 
has delegated to these Board committees 
various responsibil it ies as set out in their 
respective terms of reference.

All directors shall ensure that they carry out 
duties in good faith, in compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations, and in the 
interests of the Company and its shareholders at 
all times.

Board Composition
As at 31 December 2011, the Board comprises 
eight members, consisting of three executive 
directors, two non-executive directors and three 
independent non-executive directors.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Board of the Company comprises the 
following directors:

Executive directors:

Cheung Siu Lam (Chairman)
Chan Yuk Ming (Vice Chairman)
Tao Ye

Non-executive directors:

Lo Wan #

Liu Hui

Independent non-executive directors:

Tsang Kwok Wai ♦+

Wang Jian Sheng ★+

Chan Chun Keung ★+

♦  Audit Committee Chairman
★  Audit Committee Members
#  Remuneration Committee Chairman
+  Remuneration Committee Members

The l ist of directors (by category) is also 
disclosed in all corporate communications 
issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing 
Rules from time to time. The independent non-
executive directors are expressly identified in 
all corporate communications pursuant to the 
Listing Rules.

The relationships among the members of the 
Board are disclosed under “Biographical Details 
of Directors and Senior Management” on page 
18.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the 
Board at all times met the requirements of the 
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at 
least three independent non-executive directors 
with at least one independent non-executive 
director possessing appropriate professional 
qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual 
confirmation from each independent non-
executive director of his independence pursuant 
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The 
Company considers al l independent non-
executive directors to be independent in 
accordance with the independence guidelines 
set out in the Listing Rules.

The non-executive directors bring a wide range 
of business and financial expertise, experiences 
and independent judgement to the Board. 
Through the participation at Board meetings, 
taking the lead in managing issues involving 
potential conflict of interests and serving on 
Board committees, all non-executive directors 
make various contributions to the effective 
direction of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Chairman of the Board is Cheung Siu Lam, 
and the Chief Executive Officer is Luo Rui. 
With the support of the senior management, 
the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that 
the directors receive adequate, complete and 
reliable information in a timely manner and 
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board 
meetings, and that all key and appropriate 
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely 
manner. The Chief Executive Officer focuses 
on implementing object ives, pol ic ies and 
strategies approved and delegated by the 
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-
to-day management and operat ions. The 
Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for 
developing strategic plans and formulating 
the organizational structure, control systems 
and internal procedures and processes for the 
Board’s approval.
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The Board considers that the responsibilities 
of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
respectively are clear and distinctive and hence 
written terms thereof are not necessary.

Appointment and Re-election of 
Directors
Each of the non-executive directors of the 
Company is engaged on a service contract 
for a term of one year. The appointment may 
be terminated by not less than two months’ 
written notice.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, all directors of the Company 
are subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years and any new director 
appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an 
addition to the Board shall submit himself/
herself for re-election by shareholders at the 
first general meeting after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, 
re-election and removal of directors are laid 
down in the Company’s Articles of Association. 
The Board as a whole is responsible for 
reviewing the Board composition, developing 
and formulating the relevant procedures for 
nomination and appointment of directors, 
monitoring the appointment of directors and 
assessing the independence of independent 
non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and 
composition regularly to ensure that it has 
a balance of expertise, skills and experience 
appropr iate for the requirements of the 
business of the Company. Where vacancies 
on the Board exist, the Board shall carry out 
the selection process by making reference to 
the skills, experience, professional knowledge, 
personal integrity and time commitments of 
the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs 
and other relevant statutory requirements and 
regulations. An external recruitment agency may 
be engaged to carry out the recruitment and 
selection process when necessary.

Madam Lo Wan, Mr Wang Jian Sheng and 
Mr Tao Ye shall retire by rotation and being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant 
to the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Board recommended the re-appointment 
of the directors standing for re-election at the 
next forthcoming annual general meeting of the 
Company.

The Company’s circular dated 25 April 2012 
contains detailed information of the directors 
standing for re-election.
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Training of Directors
Code provision A.5.1 stipulates that every newly 
appointed director of the issuer should receive 
a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction 
on his first appointment, and subsequently 
such briefing and professional development 
as is necessary to ensure that he has a proper 
understanding of operations and business of 
the issuer and his responsibilities under statute, 
common law, Listing Rules, applicable legal 
requirements and other regulatory requirements 
and the business/governance policies of the 
issuer.

There is currently no arrangement in place for 
providing professional briefings and training 
programmes to directors. Nevertheless, the 
directors are continually updated with legal 
and regulatory developments, and the business 
and market changes to facilitate the discharge 
of their responsibilities. The Company would 
consider to engage external legal and other 
professional advisers for providing professional 
briefings and training programmes to directors 
whenever necessary.

Board Meetings
Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of 
each meeting are normally made available to 
directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served 
to all directors at least 14 days before the 
meetings. For other Board and committee 
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, 
complete and reliable information are sent to 
all directors at least 3 days before each Board 
meeting or committee meeting to keep the 
directors apprised of the latest developments 
and financial position of the Company and to 
enable them to make informed decisions. The 
Board and each director also have separate and 
independent access to the senior management 
where necessary.

The Chief Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary attend all regular Board meetings and 
when necessary, other Board and committee 
meetings to advise on business developments, 
financial and accounting matters, statutory and 
regulatory compliance, corporate governance 
and other major aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking 
and keeping minutes of all Board meetings and 
committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally 
circulated to directors for comment within a 
reasonable time after each meeting and final 
versions are open for directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles of Association contain 
provisions requiring directors to abstain from 
voting and not to be counted in the quorum 
at meetings for approving transactions in 
which such directors or any of their associates 
have a material interest. According to current 
Board practice, any material transaction, which 
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial 
shareholder or a director, will be considered 
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened 
Board meeting.
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Directors’ Attendance Records
Code provision A.1.1 stipulates that at least 4 
regular Board meetings a year at approximately 
quarterly intervals with active participation of 
majority of directors, either in person or through 
other electronic means of communication.

The Company does not announce its quarterly 
results and hence not consider the holding of 
quarterly meetings as necessary. The Board met 
two times during the year ended 31 December 
2011 for approving the final results for the year 
ended 31 December 2010 and interim results 
for the period ended 30 June 2011.

The attendance records of each director at 
the Board meetings during the year ended 31 
December 2011 are set out below:

Name of Directors

Attendance/
Number of 

Meetings

Mr Cheung Siu Lam 6/10
Mr Chan Yuk Ming 7/10
Madam Lo Wan 9/10
Mr Chan Chun Keung 6/10
Mr Wang Jian Sheng 6/10
Mr Tsang Kwok Wai 9/10
Mr Liu Hui 4/10
Mr Tao Ye* 0/2

* Appointed on 15 July 2011

Model Code for Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted its own code of 
conduct regarding directors’ dealings in the 
Company’s securities (the “Company Code”) 
on terms no less exacting than the Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in 
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the 
directors and the directors have confirmed that 
they have complied with the Company Code 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Company has also established written 
guidelines on no less exacting terms than 
the Model Code (the “Employees Written 
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by 
employees who are likely to be in possession of 
unpublished price-sensitive information of the 
Company.

No i n c i den t  o f  non - comp l i ance  o f  t he 
Employees Written Guidelines by the employees 
was noted by the Company.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
The Board undertakes responsibility for decision 
making in major Company matters, including: 
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, 
overall strategies and budgets, internal control 
and r i sk management sys tems,  mater ia l 
transactions (in particular those that may involve 
conflict of interests), financial information, 
appointment of directors and other significant 
financial and operational matters.
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All directors have full and timely access to 
all relevant information as well as the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary, with 
a view to ensuring that Board procedures 
and all applicable laws and regulations are 
followed. Each director is normally able to seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon 
making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration 
and operation of the Company are delegated 
to the Chief Executive Officer and the senior 
management. The delegated functions and 
responsibi l i t ies are per iodical ly reviewed. 
Approval has to be obtained from the Board 
prior to any significant transactions entered into 
by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has established two committees, 
namely, the Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of 
the Company’s affairs. All Board Committees 
of the Company are established with defined 
written terms of reference which are posted 
on the Company’s website and are available to 
shareholders upon request.

The Board also has the full support of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the senior management 
for the discharge of its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The Company has established a formal and 
transparent procedure for formulating policies 
on remuneration and senior management of 
the Group. Details of the remuneration of each 
of the directors of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2011 are set out on page 
77 in note 7 to the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises four 
members, namely Madam Lo Wan (Chairman), 
Mr Tsang Kwok Wai, Mr Wang Jian Sheng and 
Mr Chan Chun Keung, the majority of them are 
independent non-executive directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration 
Committee include making recommendations 
on and approving the remuneration policy 
and structure and remuneration packages 
of the executive directors and the senior 
management. The Remuneration Committee 
is also responsible for establishing transparent 
procedures for developing such remuneration 
policy and structure to ensure that no director 
or any of his/her associates will participate 
in deciding his/her own remuneration, which 
remuneration will be determined by reference 
to the performance of the individual and 
the Company as well as market practice and 
conditions.

The Human Resources Department is responsible 
for collection and administration of the human 
resources data and making recommendations to 
the Remuneration Committee for consideration. 
The Remuneration Committee shall consult with 
the Chairman of the Company about these 
recommendations on remuneration policy and 
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets at 
least once a year for reviewing the remuneration 
policy and structure and determining the 
annual remuneration packages of the executive 
directors and the senior management and other 
related matters.

During the year under review, there had not 
been any changes to the remuneration packages 
of the existing directors and therefore the 
Remuneration Committee did not hold any 
meeting in 2011.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial 
Reporting
The directors acknowledge their responsibility 
for preparing the financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 
2011.

The Board is responsible for presenting a 
balanced, clear and understandable assessment 
of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive 
announcements and other disclosures required 
under the Listing Rules and other statutory and 
regulatory requirements.

The Management has provided to the Board 
such explanation and information as are 
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an 
informed assessment of the Company’s financial 
statements, which are put to the Board for 
approval.

There is no material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.

Internal Controls
During the year under review, the Board 
conducted a review of the effectiveness of 
the internal control system of the Company 
i n c l u d i n g  t h e  a d e q u a c y  o f  r e s o u r c e s , 
qualifications and experience of staff of the 
Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
function, and their training programmes and 
budget.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an 
adequate internal control system to safeguard 
shareholder investments and Company assets 
and reviewing the effectiveness of such system 
on an annual basis.

The internal control system of the Group is 
designed to facilitate effective and efficient 
operations, to ensure reliability of financial 
reporting and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations, to identify and manage 
potential risks and to safeguard assets of the 
Group.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility 
for the Group’s internal control systems and 
confirm they have reviewed and are satisfied as 
to its effectiveness in managing risks.

Audit Committee
T h e  A u d i t  C o m m i t t e e  c o m p r i s e s  t h re e 
independent non-executive directors, namely 
Mr Tsang Kwok Wai (Chairman), Mr Wang Jian 
Sheng and Mr Chan Chun Keung (including 
one independent non-execut ive d i rector 
who possesses the appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise). None of the members 
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of 
the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include 
the following:

• To review the financial statements and 
reports and consider any significant or 
unusual items raised by the Chief Financial 
Off i ce r  o r  ex te r na l  aud i to r s  be fo re 
submission to the Board.

• To rev iew the re lat ionsh ip wi th the 
external auditors by reference to the 
work performed by the auditors, their 
fees and terms of engagement, and make 
recommendation to the Board on the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal 
of external auditors.

• To review the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Company’s f inancial reporting 
system, internal control system and risk 
management sys tem and assoc ia ted 
procedures.
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The Audit Committee oversees the internal 
control system of the Group, reports to the 
Board on any material issues, and makes 
recommendations to the Board.

During the year under review, the Audit 
Committee rev iewed the Group’s annual 
results and annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2010 and interim results and 
inter im report for the s ix months ended 
30 June 2011, the financial reporting and 
compliance procedures, internal control and risk 
management systems and processes, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors.

There is no different view taken by the Audit 
Committee from the Board regarding the 
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal 
of external auditors.

Name of Directors

Attendance/
Number of 

Meetings

Mr Tsang Kwok Wai 2/2
Mr Wang Jian Sheng 2/2
Mr Chan Chun Keung 2/2

External Auditors and Auditors’ 
Remuneration
The statement of the external auditors of the 
Company about their reporting responsibilities 
on the financial statements is set out in the 
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 31.

During the year under review, the remuneration 
paid to the Company’s auditors, is set out 
below:

Category of Services
Fee Paid/

Payable
HK$

Audit service 950,000
Non-audit service

– Services rendered in relation 
to the major acquisition 
completed on 21 June 2011 320,000 

Total HK$1,270,000 

COMMUNICATION WITH 
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The general meetings of the Company provide 
an important channel for communication 
between the Board and the shareholders. The 
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen 
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee or, in their absence, other members 
of the respective committees and the Board, 
are avai lable to answer quest ions at the 
shareholders’ meetings.

To  p ro m o t e  e f f e c t i v e  c o m m u n i c a t i o n , 
t h e  C o m p a n y  m a i n t a i n s  a  w e b s i t e  a t 
www.cfsh.com.hk where up-to-date information 
and updates on the Company’s business 
deve lopments  and opera t ions ,  f inanc ia l 
information, corporate governance practices 
and other information are available for public 
access. Investors may write directly to the 
Company at its registered office or via email to 
the Company’s website for any inquiries.



13ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Corporate Governance Report
 

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, 
a separate resolution is proposed for each 
substantially separate issue at shareholder 
meetings, including the election of individual 
directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder 
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to 
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted 
on the websites of the Company and of the 
Stock Exchange after each shareholder meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Siu Lam
Chairman 
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The Group is pr inc ipal ly engaged in the 
provision of integrated short-term financing 
services, comprising short-term financing, loan 
guarantee services and related management and 
consultancy services and retail business.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS
On 27 January 2011, K.P.B. Group Holdings 
L im i t ed ,  a  who l l y -owned subs i d i a r y  o f 
the Company, entered into an Acquisition 
Agreement with Mr. Cheung Siu Lam (“Mr. 
Cheung”), the Chairman of the Board, to 
acquire the entire issued capital of K.P. Financial 
Group Limited which indirectly has beneficial 
interests in 70% of the equity interests 
in Beij ing Huifeng Rongjin Credit Finance 
Company L imited（北京惠豐融金小額貸款
有限公司）, 100% of the equity interests in 
Beijing Zhong Jin Tou Management Consultancy 
Company Limited（北京中金投財務諮詢有限公
司）(formerly known as Beijing Gangjia Huitong 
Management Consultancy Company Limited) 
and 100% of the equity interests in Beijing 
Huaxia Xingye Investment Guarantee Company 
L imited（北京華夏興業投資擔保有限公司）
(collectively referred to as the “Target Group”), 
and the shareholder’s loan at the consideration 
of HK$600 million. Pursuant to the Acquisition 
Agreement, the consideration shall be satisfied 
as to (i) HK$500 million by the allotment and 
issue of 1,250,000,000 shares to Mr. Cheung 
(or his nominee(s)) at an issue price of HK$0.40 
per share, credit as fully paid, on the completion 
date, and (ii) the balance of HK$100 million 

in cash, either one-off or by such number of 
Instalments and amount as determined by Mr. 
Cheung, within six months after the completion 
date. The acquisition was completed on 21 June 
2011. Further details of the acquisition were set 
out in the Company’s circular dated 29 April 
2011 to its shareholders in connection with the 
acquisition.

Mr. Cheung has guaranteed to the K.P.B. 
Group Holdings Limited that the audited net 
profit of the Target Group for the year ending 
31 December 2011 should not be less than 
HK$80 million. During the year under review, 
the audit net profit after taxation (excluding 
non-controlling interest) of the Target Group 
was approximately HK$90.5 million and hence 
the profit guarantee given by Mr. Cheung was 
met.

On 30 November 2011, 海口港佳貿易有限公
司 (Haikou K.P.I. Company Limited#), an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into an agreement with 北京嘉澤林
物業管理有限公司 (Beijing Jia Ze Lin Property 
Management Company Limited#) to sell the 
whole block of a commercial building at 北京
市海淀區西三環北路88號 (88 North Xi San 
Huan Road, Haidian District, Beijing#), the PRC 
together with the land use right for a cash 
consideration of RMB63 million. The Board 
considered that it is in the interests of the 
Company and the shareholders as a whole to 
devote more resources in the development 
of the short-term financing business which 
is promising and the return rate of which 
is more than the rental income generated 
from the property. The disposal represents 
a good opportunity for the Group to realize 
its investment in the property at a fair and 
reasonable price while the sales proceeds would 
be able to support the continuous growth of 
the short-term financing business, thereby 
generating a higher return for the Group in the 
future.

# The English name is not an official name and is 
provided for reference only.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Further details of the disposal of property were 
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 
30 November 2011.

Other than disclosed above, there was no 
material acquisition on disposal of subsidiaries 
during the year ended 31 December 2011.

BUSINESS REVIEW
After the acquisition of K.P. Financial Group 
Limited, the Group has become a total solutions 
provider which offers a wide range of short-
term f inancing serv ices to accommodate 
d i fferent customers’ needs. The serv ices 
provided to individual & small-to-medium-
sized enterprise (“SME”) customers include 
pawn loan services, entrusted loan services, 
loan guarantees, financial consultancy and loan 
management services. For the year ended 31 
December 2011, the Group recorded a total 
revenue of approximately HK$382,127,000, 
rep re sen t i ng  a  g rowth  o f  76 .1% f rom 
HK$217,022,000 as compared with 2010. 
Net profit after tax attributable to owners of 
the Company was about HK$57,302,000, an 
increase of 126.0% over 2010.

As a result of the economic growth in the 
PRC, the private enterprise sector in the PRC 
has expanded rapidly in recent years and the 
demand for funding is on an increasing trend. 
The Group as a non-bank financial institution 
fills the funding gap for SMEs and individuals 
that banks are either unable to or unwilling to 
make loans to. Along with the steady growth 

of loans to SMEs and individuals in the PRC, 
the Board believes that there will be upside 
potential in the demand for financing services in 
the coming years.

If the acquisition of the Target Group had 
occurred on 1 January 2011, the revenue 
gene ra ted by  the  sho r t - t e rm f i nanc ing 
business would have been approximately 
HK$203,135,000 and the net profit after 
taxat ion would have been approximately 
HK$120,622,000. The short-term financing 
business has offered a solid foundation for the 
growth of the Group. This proves the Board’s 
accurate foresight as it decided to acquire the 
Target Group and allocate more resources to 
short-term financing business.

Our Beij ing convenience chain stores (the 
“Hi-24”) achieved a s ingle store average 
daily turnover of approximately RMB4,900, 
represent ing a growth of approx imate ly 
RMB700 or 17% over last year.

After trial operation in 2010, during 2011, Hi-
24 set up a specialized fast food department 
to conduct fast food research and development 
and to provide professional guidance and 
support to the stores. The food categories that 
Hi-24 offered are basically quite comprehensive 
with operating categories reaching 15. The 
annual sales amount reached RMB23 million, 
representing 10% of total sales of the retail 
business. In December, a monthly sales of 
RMB2.7 million were achieved, contributing to 
almost 10% of total sales of that month. 

Hi-24 has started trial co-operation with a group 
shopping website since the second half of 
2011 and has installed merchandise redemption 
devices inside the stores, gradually carrying out 
on-line group shopping activities. The purpose is 
to attract more consumers, enhance more Hi-24 
awareness and drive higher customer flow. The 
Hi-24 membership cards have also achieved the 
purpose of attracting new customers, retaining 
old customers and enhancing customer loyalty.
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However, Hi-24 wi l l  a lso face a number 
of diff icult ies such as intensif ied market 
competition, and high rental and labour costs. 
Existing competitors are speeding up their store 
expansion and new competitors are emerging. 
Hi-24 will have to improve continuously at 
various levels such as enhancing merchandise 
features, increasing value added services and 
raising customer service standards. 

In 2011, Hi-24 continued to maintain the 
mechanism of pegging staff income to sales 
growth and were able to share the growth with 
staff. However, labour costs of store outlets 
continued to accelerate and were up by about 
RMB4 million or 17% over last year. Labour 
costs of Hi-24 will continue to grow rapidly in 
2012 and such impact can only be assimilated 
through sales growth. Hi-24 will also face 
higher rents which landlords will demand as 
convenience stores expand rapidly in Beijing and 
fewer and fewer shops are available in good 
locations. Currently, market rentals for shops 
with street frontage at relatively good locations 
are above RMB250,000 per year, which requires 
a higher daily sales volume to pay for the lease. 

Despite the above adverse factors, after 
more than ten years’ of development and 
accumulation of experience, the management 
is confident that Hi-24 will be able to achieve 
continuous high sales growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Net Profit
For the year under review, the Group’s revenue 
amounted to approximately HK$382,127,000 
(2010 :  H K $217 ,022 ,000 ) ,  r e p re s e n t i n g 
an increase of 76.1%. Net profit after tax 
at t r ibutab le to owners of the Company 
was approximately HK$57,302,000 (2010: 
HK$25,355,000), an increase of about 126.0% 
compared with the corresponding figure last 
year.

Retail Business
C u r r e n t l y,  t h e  G r o u p  h a s  a b o u t  1 8 6 
convenience store outlets in Bei j ing city. 
Turnover generated f rom reta i l  bus iness 

for the year amounted to approximately 
HK$264,450,000 (2010: HK$201,515,000), 
an increase of 31.2% as compared with 
the corresponding figure of the last year. 
Gross prof it of retai l business amounted 
to approx imate ly HK$63,288,000 (2010: 
HK$45,389,000), increasing by about 39.4%. 
Merchandise sales gross margin was 23.9%. 
Profit before and after taxation of retai l 
business contributed to the Group’s results 
we re  app rox ima te l y  HK$8,558,000 and 
HK$6,418,000. Sel l ing and administrat ive 
expenses of the retail business for the year 2011 
were approximately HK$88,823,000.

FINANCING BUSINESS
The Group was engaged in the provision of 
non-bank financial services to SME customers 
with real estate as the most common form of 
collateral. The short-term loans offered were 
secured by tangible personal property of the 
customers. As at 31 December 2011, the 
Group had direct advances to customers of 
approximately HK$809,596,000.

Revenue generated from financing business 
includes interest income of approximately 
HK$20,166,000, financing consultancy service 
income of approximately HK$96,412,000 and 
loan guarantee service income of approximately 
HK$1,099,000. 

As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate 
amount of loan guarantee provided by the 
Group was approximately HK$124,584,000. 
Guarantee income is recognized over the life 
of guarantee contracts. As at 31 December 
2011, the deferred income was approximately 
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HK$1,271,000 which would be recognized in 
the forthcoming 12 months. Profit before and 
after taxation of financing business contributed 
to the Group’s results were approximately 
H K $ 8 1 , 6 2 2 , 0 0 0  a n d  H K $ 5 8 , 8 7 6 , 0 0 0 
respectively. Administrative expenses of the 
financing business for the year 2011 were 
approximately HK$37,418,000. Our unique 
multi-licence platform in Beijing allowed the 
Group to structure a more competitive product 
mix to customers. To sustain cont inuous 
business growth, the Group has increased 
its presence and enhanced public awareness 
through advertising and marketing activities in 
our convenience store outlets. The Group also 
began to expand its sales team to cater future 
business growth.

Finance Costs
Finance costs for the year under review were 
approximately HK$1,000,000, representing  a 
decrease of 37.5% over HK$1,600,000 for 
2010.

Financial Resources and Capital 
Structure
The Group maintains a healthy cash position 
and sufficient capital for business development. 
As at 31 December 2011, current assets 
of the Group compr ised cash and bank 
balances of approximately HK$187,239,000, 
short term loans receivable of approximately 
HK$809,596,000, accounts and interests 
receivable of approximately HK$14,295,000, 

other receivables, deposits and prepayments 
of approximately HK$38,610,000, inventories 
of approximately HK$20,777,000 and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss of 
approximately HK$3,898,000. Non-current 
assets mainly comprised property, plant and 
equipment of about HK$11,368,000, goodwill 
of about HK$622,703,000, intangible assets 
of approximately HK$385,000 and available-
f o r- s a l e  i n v e s t m e n t s  o f  a p p ro x i m a t e l y 
HK$65,348,000. Current l iabi l i t ies mainly 
comprised accounts payable of approximately 
HK$45,605,000, deferred income of about 
HK$16,275,000, other payables, deposits 
re ce i v ed  and  a c c rua l  o f  app rox ima te l y 
HK$143,569,000, tax payable of approximately 
HK$35,011,000 and short-term bank loans of 
about HK$49,175,000.

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO
The Group maintains a healthy liquidity position. 
As at 31 December 2011, the current ratio of 
the Group was 4.0 times. The Group monitors 
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, which 
is calculated as total borrowings divided by total 
equity. As at 31 December 2011, the gearing 
ratio was about 3.1%.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The carrying amounts less impairment provision 
of the financial assets and the carrying amounts 
of the financial l iabil it ies are assumed to 
estimate their fair values.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION 
POLICIES
As at 31 December 2011, the Group had 
approximately 1,200 employees in Mainland 
C h i n a  a n d  H o n g  K o n g .  C o m p e t i t i v e 
remuneration packages and performance-
based bonuses are structured to commensurate 
with individual responsibilities, qualifications, 
experience and performance. The Group also 
sets up a share option scheme for the purpose 
of providing incentives to eligible employees. 
For the period under review, total staff costs 
were about HK$52,764,000.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR CHEUNG SIU LAM, aged 53, is a co-
founder and Chairman of the Group. Before 
establishing the Group, Mr Cheung worked for 
Beijing Machinery Import & Export Company 
for many years. Mr Cheung has extensive 
experience in trading and retailing business in 
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Mr 
Cheung is responsible for the overall strategic 
planning and corporate development of the 
Group. Mr Cheung is the spouse of Madam 
Lo Wan. Mr. Cheung is the Chairman of the 
Nomination Committee of the Company.

MR CHAN YUK MING, aged 53, is the Vice-
Chairman of the Group. Mr Chan graduated 
from the Hangzhou Institute of Business, 
following which he worked in the accounting 
department of the Ministry of Commerce. He 
joined the Group in 1985 and is responsible for 
business development of the Group. 

Mr Chan does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management, 
subs tant ia l  sha reho lder s ,  o r  cont ro l l i ng 
shareholders of the Company.

MR TAO YE, aged 39, joined the Group in 
January 2004. He was appointed as an executive 
director on 15 July 2011. Mr Tao graduated 
in Peking University in 1995 and obtained a 
Bachelor Degree in Science and a certificate in 
Law. Mr Tao further obtained a Master Degree 
in Science from Peking University in 1998 and 
a Master Degree in Business Administration 
from the Guanghua School of Management 
of Peking University in 2001. Mr Tao is also a 
director of K.P.I. Convenience Retail Company 
Limited, director and general manager of Beijing 
K.P. I . Hi-24 Convenience Stores Company 
Limited. He has extensive experience in strategic 
planning, business administration and corporate 
management and possesses unpara l le led 
strength in the areas of overall corporate 
structuring as well as risk management over 
various business and operations.

Mr Tao does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management or 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the 
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
MR LIU HUI, aged 55, is graduated from 
Beijing University of International Business 
and Economics and Westminster University of 
UK. Mr Liu has over 29 years of experience in 
advising and investing in the PRC, especially 
in the retail and consumer sectors. Mr Liu co-
founded the US$165 million China Retail Fund, 
LDC with American International Group, Inc 
in 1996. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of China-Hong Kong Photo 
Products Holdings Limited (a company listed 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) 
and a non-executive director of ARC Capital 
Holdings Limited (a closed-end fund listed on 
the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange). 
Mr Liu joined the Group in October 2007.

Mr Liu does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management or 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the 
Company.

MADAM LO WAN, aged 50, joined the Group 
in 1989 and re-designated from executive 
Director to non-executive Director on 15 July 
2011. Prior to joining the Group, she worked 
for a PRC trading company. Madam Lo is also a 
member of the Remuneration Committee of the 
Company.

Madam Lo is the spouse of Mr Cheung Siu Lam, 
the Chairman of the Group.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS
MR WANG JIAN SHENG, aged 59, graduated 
from Luoyang Industrial Institution (currently 
known as Henan Technology University) with a 
degree in engineering. He has been involved in 
industrial businesses for more than 26 years and 
has worked in the Project Department of China 
Everbright Industrial Company for four years. Mr 
Wang is the chairman of Strong Petrochemical 
Holdings Limited (a company listed on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr 
Wang joined the Group in 1996. Mr Wang is 
also a member of the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee of the Company. 

Mr Wang does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management, 
subs tant ia l  sha reho lder s ,  o r  cont ro l l i ng 
shareholders of the Company.

MR CHAN CHUN KEUNG, aged 61, joined 
the Group in November, 2000. Mr Chan has 
extensive experience in trading and investment 
in PRC and is currently a committee member 
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference of Fuj ian Province, PRC, the 
v ice-chairman of the Fukien Chamber of 
Commerce in Hong Kong and a committee 
member of the Foreign Investment Enterprises 
Association in PRC. Mr Chan is also a member 
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee of 
the Company. 

Mr Chan does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management, 
subs tant ia l  sha reho lder s ,  o r  cont ro l l i ng 
shareholders of the Company.

MR TSANG KWOK WAI, aged 42, joined the 
Group in May 2007. He is a fellow member 
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants; The Association of Chartered 
Cert i f ied Accountants ; and The Taxat ion 
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr Tsang is also an 
independent non-executive director of Century 
Ginwa Reta i l  Hold ings L imited and ABC 
Communications (Holdings) Limited (from 18 
September 2008 to 28 January 2011) (both 
companies listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited). Mr Tsang has over 19 
years of experience in accounting and finance. 
At present, Mr Tsang runs his own firm and 
practices public accounting. He is also the 
chairman of the Audit Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr Tsang does not have any relationship with 
any other directors, senior management or 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the 
Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR LUO RUI, aged 44, is the chief executive 
officer of the Group and is responsible for 
the overall business development and daily 
operation of the Group. Mr Luo graduated with 
a Bachelor and Master’s degree in Building 
Construction of Xi’an University of Architecture 
and Technology（西安建築科技大學）.  Mr 
Luo has over 15 years of experience and a 
proven track record in commercial real estate 
investment and financing, assets acquisition, 
project development, market development and 
corporate management. Mr Luo has been the 
chief architect and deputy general manager of 
a property developer in Hainan and the deputy 
general manager of a property management 
company in Beijing. Mr Luo has extensive 
networks with senior management of property 
developers, major commercial banks and local 
authorities in Beijing. He is currently a councilor 
of the Beijing Guarantee Association（北京市擔
保協會）, the Beijing Association of Small and 
Medium Enterprises（北京市中小企業協會）, the 
Beijing Association of Pawn Business（北京市典
當協會）and the Beijing Microcredit Association
（北京市小額貸款協會）. He joined the Group in 
June 2011.
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MS GUAN XUE LING, aged 38, is the executive 
Vice President of the Group. Ms Guan has 
over 10 years of strategic decision making 
and practical experiences in listed companies 
auditing, corporate merger and acquisition, 
equity acquisition, transfer as well as project 
investment and financing.

Ms Guan joined the Group in June 2011, mainly 
responsible for risk management, accounting 
affairs and treasury management of the Group.

Ms Guan successively held the posts of quality 
control manager, auditing manager, assessment 
manager, chief auditor and head of the auditing 
department in domestic accounting firms, 
large state-owned enterprises, large private 
companies and foreign-invested companies. 
She is familiar with accounting and valuation 
standards. During her years with accounting 
firms, she had participated in the auditing work 
of a number of large state-owned enterprises, 
fore ign- invested enterpr i ses and pr ivate 
enterprises, such as China Resources Land, 
Sinobo Group and Suning Corporation. She also 
participated in various IPOs audit and internal 
audit, such as BBMG Corporation, Enlight Media 
and Ningxia Yellow River Rural Commercial 
Bank. She had led and participated in various 
auditing projects spanning across the real 
estate, manufacturing, media, retail, logistic and 
finance sectors and has extensive experiences in 
financial auditing and internal auditing.

Ms Guan graduated from Capital University of 
Economics and Business with a Postgraduate 
Degree in Business Administration. She is also 
a certified public accountant, a qualified asset 
appraiser in the PRC and a party member 
of China Democratic National Construction 
Association.

MR SUN YU, aged 43, is the executive Vice 
President of the Group. Mr Sun has more 
than 10 years of experiences in special project 
investment and over 5 years of experiences 
in bank credit guarantee and pawn business 
operation.

Mr Sun joined the Group in 2009, mainly 
responsible for dai ly management of the 
sales team. Mr Sun was the general manager 
of the business division of 北京寶瑞通典當
行. He has extensive practical experiences in 
the extension of loans of non-bank financial 
institutions, especially in relation to loan using 
real estate as collateral. He had led his team 
successfully accomplished 70 loan transactions 
with aggregate size exceeding RMB1.5 billion. 
Before that, Mr Sun had participated in and led 
a number of investment projects in different 
industries, including investment and merger 
and acquis i t ion in new energy, medica l , 
pharmaceutical, catering, home appliance, 
electronic and environmental industries. In 
addition, Mr Sun also served as the sales 
manager of the Beijing branch of Shanghai Dalu 
Futures Company Limited, mainly to deal with 
futures and securities investment.

Mr Sun graduated from Tsinghua University in 
1991.
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MR TANG ZHI YONG, aged 36, is the executive 
Vice President of the Group. Mr Tang has more 
than ten years of management experience in 
guarantee, investment and project financing, 
and has extensive connection with banks, trusts, 
guarantee associations and association of small-
to-medium sized enterprises and institutions in 
the guarantee industry in Beijing.

Mr Tang joined the Group in June 2011, 
and was primarily responsible for strategic 
planning, marketing and products development 
and the operation of guarantee business. 
Mr Tang once served as General Manager 
of three guarantee companies and was an 
expert in designing products and operating 
model of guarantee business, integrating 
strategic resources as well as establishing 
business channels and risk management and 
control systems of guarantee institutions. In 
2002, Mr Tang established Northern Credit 
Guarantee Company（北方信用擔保公司）
and during his term of service as General 
Manager, Mr Tang suggested the business 
model of automobile credit services centers 
which focused on provision of loans services 
business to personal automobile consumer and 
automobile dealership enterprises. In 2005, 
Mr Tang was the first to launch the profiting 
model of guarantee institution notes business, 
which was a breakthrough to the profiting 
model of traditional guarantee business. While 
Mr Tang was engaged in guarantee business, 
Mr Tang devoted himself to business product 
design of guarantee institutions and realization 
of concepts of special guarantee financing 
platform. In developing the secured loan service 
platforms, Mr Tang has always been advocating 
building differentiated competitive power of 
guarantee platforms, which had revenues of 
individual business exceeding the market level 
while reducing business risks. These resulted in 
good operating efficiency.

As for social work, Mr Tang was responsible 
for the thematic study of Credit Evaluation and 
Market Supervision of Guarantor（擔保機構
資信評價及市場行為監管）of the Ministry of 
Development in 2006. He was also appointed 
by the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Construction 
（北京市建設委員會）to part ic ipate in the 
drafting of documents regarding the norm 
of Beijing construction guarantee market, to 
design the Beijing Construction Guarantee 
Market Supervis ion System（北京市工程擔
保市場監管系統）, and, as an invited expert, 
to assess the first batch of qualified project 
guarantors in Beijing. He is currently acting as 
the Vice-chairman of the China Construction 
Guarantee Professional Committee and a 
general councilor of the Beijing Guarantee 
Association.

Mr Tang graduated f rom the Schoo l  of 
In te rnat iona l  S tud ies ,  Pek ing Un ive r s i t y
（北京大學國際關係學院）,  o b t a i n e d  a 
Graduate Diploma in Integrated Marketing 
C o m m u n i c a t i o n s  f ro m t h e  H o n g  K o n g 
University, and is currently taking a research 
master s tudy in the L iaon ing Univers i ty 
Philosophy and Public Management School
（遼寧大學哲學與公共管理學院）i n  Pub l i c 
Administration.
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The directors present herewith their report 
and the audited financial statements of the 
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The pr incipal act iv i ty of the Company is 
investment holding. The principal activities 
and other particulars of the subsidiaries, are 
set out in note 17 to the financial statements 
respectively.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, 
results, assets and liabilities for the year ended 
31 December 2011 is set out in note 4 to the 
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 
December 2011 and the state of affairs of the 
Company and the Group at that date are set out 
in the financial statements on pages 33 to 37. 
The directors do not recommend the payment 
of any dividend in this year (2010: NIL).

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the 
Company and of the Group during the year are 
set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT, LEASE PREMIUM FOR 
LAND AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Details of movements in property, plant and 
equipment, land lease premium and the 
investment property of the Group are set out 
in notes 13 to 15 to the financial statements, 
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE 
OPTIONS
Details of movements in share capital and 
share options of the Company during the year, 
together with the reasons therefore, are set out 
in notes 35 and 36 to the financial statements, 
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Profit for the year attributable to owners 
of the Company of HK$57,302,000 (2010: 
HK$25,355,000) has been transferred to 
reserves .  As at 31 December 2011, the 
Company’s reserve available for distribution 
to shareholders amounted to approximately 
HK$121,324,000 (2010: HK$76,659,000) in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 79B 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND 
SUPPLIERS
The Group is principally engaged in retail 
business and provision of short term financing 
services. The five largest customers and the 
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted 
for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and 
purchases respectively during the year.

As far as the directors are aware, neither the 
directors, their associates nor any shareholder of 
the Company (which, to the best of knowledge 
of the directors, owns more than 5% of the 
Company’s share capital) had any beneficial 
interest in these major customers and suppliers.

Report of the directors
 



23ANNUAL REPORT 2011

Report of the directors
 

DIRECTORS
The directors who held office during the year 
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Cheung Siu Lam (Chairman)
Chan Yuk Ming (Vice-chairman)
Tao Ye (appointed on 15 July 2011)

Non-Executive Directors
Liu Hui
Lo Wan (re-designated on 15 July 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Wang Jian Sheng
Chan Chun Keung
Tsang Kwok Wai

According to Article 105(A) of the Company’s 
Articles of Association, Madam Lo Wan and Mr 
Wang Jian Sheng shall retire by rotation at the 
Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, 
will offer themselves for re-election at the 
Annual General Meeting. According to Article 
96 of the Company’s Articles of Association, 
Mr Tao Ye shall retire at the Annual General 
Meeting, and will offer himself for re-election 
at the Annual General Meeting. The directors of 
the Company, including the independent non-
executive directors are subject to retirement by 
rotation and re-election at the annual general 
meeting of the Company in accordance with 
the provisions of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The non-executive director, Mr Liu Hui and the 
independent non-executive director, Mr Tsang 
Kwok Wai, have entered into a service contract 
with the Company for one year commencing on 
8 October 2007 and 28 May 2007 respectively 
and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the Company.

Other independent non-executive directors, 
namely Mr Wang Jian Sheng and Mr Chan Chun 
Keung entered into service contracts with the 
Company respectively for a term of one year 
commencing on 9 September 2004 and are 
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election 
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company 
in accordance with the Articles of Association of 
the Company.

Either party may terminate the contract by 
giving not less than two months’ notice in 
writing or payment of remuneration in lieu 
of such notice or the unexpired part of such 
period. Their remuneration is determined by 
the board of directors on the anniversary of the 
dates of their appointments.

No director proposed for re-election at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting has 
an unexpired service contract which is not 
determinable by the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries within one year without payment 
of compensation, other than normal statutory 
obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN 
CONTRACTS
No contracts of significance to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
and in which a director had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the 
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL
As at 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by the 
Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model 
Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares held

Underlying 
Shares 

Interested

Aggregate 
Long Position 
in Shares and 

Underlying 
Shares to 

Issued 
Share Capital

(Note 1)

Cheung Siu Lam Beneficial owner of 1,710,044,240 
ordinary shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares, family 
interest of 225,802,000 
ordinary shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares (Note 2)  
and interest in controlled 
corporation of 86,400,000 
ordinary shares (Note 3)

2,022,246,240 22,000,000 68.21%

Lo Wan Beneficial owner of 225,802,000 
ordinary shares and 
11,000,000 underlying 
shares, family interest of 
1,710,044,240 ordinary shares 
and 11,000,000 underlying 
shares (Note 4) and interest 
in controlled corporation of 
86,400,000 ordinary shares 
(Note 3)

2,022,246,240 22,000,000 68.21%

Chan Yuk Ming Beneficial owner 10,000,000 12,000,000 1.26%

Tao Ye Beneficial owner 0 7,000,000 0.23%

Notes:

1. The number of shares represents the shares in which the directors are deemed to be interested as a result of holding 
share options.

2. By virtue of the SFO, Cheung Siu Lam is deemed to be interested in 225,802,000 ordinary shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares held by Lo Wan.

3. Arbalice Holdings Limited is beneficially owned as to 60% by Cheung Siu Lam and 40% by Lo Wan. By virtue of 
the SFO, Cheung Siu Lam and Lo Wan are deemed to be interested in 86,400,000 shares held by Arbalice Holdings 
Limited.

4. By virtue of the SFO, Lo Wan is deemed to be interested in 1,710,044,240 ordinary shares and 11,000,000 underlying 
shares held by Cheung Siu Lam.
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of Associated Corporation

Name of Director Name of Associated Corporation
Approximate 

Percentage

Cheung Siu Lam K.P.I. Convenience Retail Company Limited 28%

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives or any of their associates had any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its 
associated corporations were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of Part 
XV of the SFO as at 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ Interests in Share Capital” above and “Share 
Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any director or their respective 
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire 
such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS IN SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2011, the following companies and person were interested in more than 5% 
of the issued share capital of the Company according to the register kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Name Capacity

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares held

Underlying 
Shares 

Interested

Aggregate 
Long Position 
in Shares and 

Underlying 
Shares to 

Issued 
Share Capital

Cheung Siu Lam Beneficial owner of 1,710,044,240 
ordinary shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares, family 
interest of 225,802,000 
ordinary shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares and interest 
in controlled corporation of 
86,400,000 ordinary shares

2,022,246,240 22,000,000 68.21%
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Name Capacity

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares held

Underlying 
Shares 

Interested

Aggregate 
Long Position 
in Shares and 

Underlying 
Shares to 

Issued 
Share Capital

Lo Wan Beneficial owner of 225,802,000 
ordinary shares and 
11,000,000 underlying 
shares, family interest of 
1,710,044,240 ordinary 
shares and 11,000,000 
underlying shares and interest 
in controlled corporation of 
86,400,000 ordinary shares

2,022,246,240 22,000,000 68.21%

Save as disclosed above, no person had registered an interest or a short position in the shares and 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section 
336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 7 June 2004 (the “New Scheme”) for the 
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success 
of the Group’s operations.

A summary of the New Scheme of the Company is as follows:

Purpose To provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their 
contributions to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit 
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources 
that are valuable to the Group and any entity in which the Group 
holds an equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants (i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time), executive 
directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or 
any Invested Entity;

(ii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group 
or any Invested Entity, any customer of the Group or any 
Invested Entity; any person or entity that provides technical, 
financial and legal support to the Group or any Invested 
Entity; and

(iii) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested 
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of 
the Group or any Invested Entity.

Total number of ordinary 
shares available for issue 
under the New Scheme 
and the percentage of the 
issued share capital that it 
represents as at the date of 
the annual report

172,590,233 ordinary shares and 5.76% of the existing issued 
share capital.

Maximum entitlement of 
each participant

Where any grant or further grant of options to a participant would 
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon 
exercise of all the options granted and to be granted to such 
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in 
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant 
or further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total 
number of shares in issue, such grant or further grant must be 
separately approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
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Where any grant or further grant of options to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the 
Company, or any of their respective associates, would result in the 
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already 
granted and to be granted (including exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding options) to such person in the 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of 
shares in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the 
shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000,

such grant or further grant of options must be approved by the 
shareholders in a general meeting.

Period within which the
securities must be taken
up under an option 

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be 
determined and notified by the directors to each grantee, but shall  
end in any event not later than 10 years from the date of offer of 
the grant of options subject to the provisions for early termination 
set out in the New Scheme.

Minimum period for 
which an option must 
be held before it can be
exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be  
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the 
directors.

Amount payable on 
acceptance of the 
option and the period
within which such
payment must be made

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 
days from the date of the offer with a consideration of HK$1.00 
being payable by the grantee.

Basis of determining
the exercise price 

Determined by the directors but shall not be less than the 
highest  of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of 
offer of grant of options, which must be a trading day; (ii) the 
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of offer of grant of options; and 
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The remaining life of
the New Scheme

The New Scheme remains in force until 6 June 2014.
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During the year under review, no share options were granted. Details of the share options granted 
under the New Scheme are as follows:

As at 31 December 2011, the executive directors, non-executive directors and employees of the 
Group have the following interests under the New Scheme.

Director 
Date of 

Offer
Exercise 

Price
Outstanding 
 at 1.1.2011

Granted 
During the 

 Year

Exercised 
During the 

Year

Lapsed 
During the 

Year
Outstanding

 at 31.12.2011 Exercise Period 

Closing Price 
of the 

Securities 
Immediately 

before the 
Date on Which 

the Options 
were Offered

HK$ HK$

Cheung Siu Lam 04.10.07 0.479 10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000 04.10.07 – 03.10.17 0.460

22.10.10 0.359 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 22.10.10 – 21.10.20 0.360          
Lo Wan 04.10.07 0.479 10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000 04.10.07 – 03.10.17 0.460

22.10.10 0.359 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 22.10.10 – 21.10.20 0.360          
Chan Yuk Ming 04.10.07 0.479 10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000 04.10.07 – 03.10.17 0.460

22.10.10 0.359 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 22.10.10 – 21.10.20 0.360          
Tao Ye 04.10.07 0.479 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000 04.10.07 – 03.10.17 0.460

22.10.10 0.359 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 22.10.10 – 21.10.20 0.360          
Employees in 

aggregate
04.10.07
22.10.10

0.479
0.359

28,000,000
29,000,000

– 
– 

–
1,000,000

–
–

28,000,000
28,000,000

04.10.07 – 03.10.17
22.10.10 – 21.10.20

0.460
0.360
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES
The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December 
2011. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2011.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong 
Kong Employment Ordinance, and participates in various defined contribution retirement plans 
organised by the relevant authorities for its employees in the PRC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the corporate governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance 
Report” in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the 
directors, the directors confirm that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as 
required under the Listing Rules during the year.

AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by CCIF CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants. A 
resolution for their re-appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

Cheung Siu Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA FINANCIAL SERVICES 
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS K. P. I. 
COMPANY LIMITED)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of China Financial Services Holdings 
Limited (formerly known as K.P.I. Company 
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 33 
to 133 which comprise the consolidated and 
company statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the 
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. This report is made solely to you, 
as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person 
for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consol idated f inancial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of consol idated f inancial statements that 
give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the Company and of the Group 
as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s 
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards and have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2012

Kwok Cheuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P02412
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations

Turnover 3 382,127 217,022

Cost of sales (197,862) (156,800)  

Gross profit 184,265 60,222

Other revenue 3 39,625 32,598
Other net income 3 9,463 49,958
Change in fair value of investment property 15 – 8,066
Selling and distribution expenses (77,775) (73,054)
Administrative expenses (69,689) (44,683)  

Profit from operations 85,889 33,107

Finance costs 6 (1,018) (1,550)  

Profit before taxation from  
continuing operations 5 84,871 31,557

Income tax 8(a) (25,496) (4,565)  

Profit for the year from continuing operations 59,375 26,992

Discontinued operations

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 9 – 5,154  

Profit for the year 59,375 32,146  

Other comprehensive income,  
net of income tax
Exchange differences on translation of  

financial statements of overseas subsidiaries 18,438 8,571
Change in fair value of available-for-sale  

investments (5,041) (6,724)  

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of income tax 13,397 1,847  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR 72,772 33,993  

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 57,302 25,355
Non-controlling interests 2,073 6,791  

59,375 32,146  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 70,430 26,270
Non-controlling interests 2,342 7,723  

72,772 33,993  

Earnings per share (in HK cent) 12

From continuing and discontinued operations
– Basic HK2.373 cents HK1.469 cents  

– Diluted HK2.367 cents HK1.459 cents  

From continuing operations
– Basic HK2.373 cents HK1.553 cents  

– Diluted HK2.367 cents HK1.542 cents  

The notes on pages 41 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 11,368 3,624
Investment property 15 – 73,959
Intangible assets 16 385 403
Goodwill 18 622,703 –
Available-for-sale investments 19 65,348 48,495

699,804 126,481

Current assets
Inventories 25 20,777 35,581
Accounts receivable 20 8,012 1,143
Interests receivable 21 6,283 –
Short-term loans receivable 22 809,596 186,209
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 24 3,898 35,558
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 26 38,610 160,814
Security deposits 23 18,503 –
Tax recoverable 8(c) 268 –
Cash and cash equivalents 28 187,239 339,954

1,093,186 759,259

Asset classified as held-for-sale 41 73,959 –  

1,167,145 759,259  

Current liabilities
Tax payable 8(c) 35,011 1,510
Accounts payable 29 45,605 54,365
Other payables, deposits received and accruals 30 143,569 9,440
Deferred income 33 16,275 –
Short term bank loans – secured 32 49,175 4,650
Short term bank loans – unsecured 32 – 21,153
Liabilities arising from loan guarantee contracts 31 1,851 –

291,486 91,118  

Net current assets 875,659 668,141  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,575,463 794,622

Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loans – secured 32 – 16,277
Deferred tax liabilities 34 8,185 4,203  

8,185 20,480  

NET ASSETS 1,567,278 774,142  

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2011
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EQUITY
Share capital 35 299,700 174,600
Reserves 37 1,236,648 591,229

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 
THE COMPANY 1,536,348 765,829

Non-controlling interests 37 30,930 8,313  

TOTAL EQUITY 1,567,278 774,142  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2012.

On behalf of the board

Cheung Siu Lam Chan Yuk Ming
Director Director

The notes on pages 41 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 91 391
Interests in subsidiaries 17 14,269 33,519

14,360 33,910

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 26 2,095 2,286
Amounts due from subsidiaries 27 1,308,849 576,417
Cash and cash equivalents 28 24,599 142,676

1,335,543 721,379

Current liabilities
Other payables, deposits received and accruals 30 13,325 571
Amounts due to subsidiaries 27 27,755 190,639

41,080 191,210  

Net current assets 1,294,463 530,169  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,308,823 564,079  

NET ASSETS 1,308,823 564,079  

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 35 299,700 174,600
Reserves 37 1,009,123 389,479

1,308,823 564,079  

TOTAL EQUITY 1,308,823 564,079  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2012.

On behalf of the board

Cheung Siu Lam Chan Yuk Ming
Director Director

The notes on pages 41 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2011
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Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Other 

comprehensive income

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Attributable to 

owners of 

the Company

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

 

Share-based 

compensation 

reserve

Exchange 

fluctuation 

reserve

Fair 

value 

reserve

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2010 172,590 287,362 16,914 11,192 9,014 1,104 238,657 736,833 104,216 841,049

Exchange adjustment – – – 7,639 – – – 7,639 932 8,571

Profit for the year – – – – – – 25,355 25,355 6,791 32,146

Fair value adjustment for financial assets – – – – (6,724) – – (6,724) – (6,724)          

Total comprehensive income – – – 7,639 (6,724) – 25,355 26,270 7,723 33,993

Shares issued under share option scheme 2,010 3,125 (2,369) – – – – 2,766 – 2,766

Decrease in non-controlling interests arising 

on disposal of interest in a subsidiary  

(note 39) – – – – – – – – (103,626) (103,626)

Decrease in exchange fluctuation reserve 

arising on disposal of interest in a 

subsidiary (note 39) – – – (7,335) – – – (7,335) – (7,335)

Decrease in statutory surplus reserve arising 

on disposal of interest in a subsidiary  

(note 39) – – – – – (493) – (493) – (493)

Equity settled share-based transactions – – 7,788 – – – – 7,788 – 7,788          

At 31 December 2010 and 1 January 2011 174,600 290,487 22,333 11,496 2,290 611 264,012 765,829 8,313 774,142

Exchange adjustment – – – 18,169 – – – 18,169 269 18,438

Profit for the year – – – – – – 57,302 57,302 2,073 59,375

Fair value adjustment for financial assets – – – – (5,041) – – (5,041) – (5,041)

Transfer to reserve – – – – – 8,576 (8,576) – – –          

Total comprehensive income – – – 18,169 (5,041) 8,576 48,726 70,430 2,342 72,772

Share issued through acquisition of 

subsidiaries 125,000 574,980 – – – – – 699,980 – 699,980

Increase in non-controlling interests arising 

on acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 20,153 20,153

Equity settled share-based transactions 100 475 (216) – – – – 359 – 359

Application of white wash wavier – (250) – – – – – (250) – (250)

Pre-acquisition dividend – – – – – – – – 122 122          

As 31 December 2011 299,700 865,692 22,117 29,665 (2,751) 9,187 312,738 1,536,348 30,930 1,567,278
          

The notes on pages 41 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Profit for the year 59,375 32,146
Adjustments for

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 8(a) 25,496 6,843
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 760 20,888
Gain on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment – (168)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale 

investments (3,191) (9,864)
Written off of property, plant and equipment 202 –
Impairment loss on short-term loans receivable 22 1,535 –
Interest income (1,415) (1,951)
Finance costs 1,018 4,223
Share-based payment expenses – 7,788
Dividend income from listed investments (939) (560)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 39 – 8,080
Amortisation of intangible assets 16 18 4,407
Change in fair value of investment property 15 – (8,066)  

Changes in working capital 82,859 63,766

Increase in short-term loans receivable (564,983) (103,172)
Decrease in inventories 14,804 75,312
Decrease in accounts receivable 4,783 42,612
Increase in interests receivable (5,428) –
Increase in deferred income 15,886 –
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables,  

deposits and prepayments 174,193 (178,837)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable (8,894) 7,815
Increase in other payables,  

deposits received and accruals 77,774 33,237
Increase in liabilities arising from loan  

guarantee contracts 1,376 –
Increase in security deposits (18,503) –
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss 31,660 (32,935)

Cash used in operations (277,332) (155,968)

Taxation paid
– PRC enterprise income tax (9,295) (4,395)  

Net cash used in operating activities (203,768) (96,597)  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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2011 2010
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (8,461) (26,012)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (30,925) (42,304)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale 

investments 12,221 35,314
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries,  

net of cash disposed – (117,766)
Interest received 1,415 1,951
Proceeds from issue of shares 89 2,766
Dividend received from listed investment 939 560
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 40 45,453 –
Proceeds on disposal of property,  

plant and equipment – 1,721
Contribution from minority shareholders 5,844 –

Net cash inflow/(outflow)  
from investing activities 26,575 (143,770)  

Financing activities
Interest paid (1,018) (4,223)
Proceeds from new bank loans 12,152 21,153
Repayment of bank loans (5,057) (94,947)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from  
financing activities 6,077 (78,017)  

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (171,116) (318,384)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 18,401 8,476

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of  
the year 339,954 649,862  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 28 187,239 339,954  

The notes on pages 41 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the 
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its 
registered office is Suite 5606, 56th Floor, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all 
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong 
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial 
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of 
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which are first effective or 
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the 
Company. Note 2(b) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting 
from initial applications of these developments to the extent that they are relevant 
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial 
statements.

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using 
the currency that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the entity. These financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong dollars (“HKD”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share data. Hong 
Kong dollar is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the 
historical cost basis except that the following assets are stated at their fair value as 
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

– investment property (see note 2(w)) ;

– financial instruments classified as available-for-sale or as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (see note 2(k)) .

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis 
of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant 
effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are 
discussed in note 46.

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued 
by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures
Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues
Amendments to HK(IFRIC) – Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
HK(IFRIC) – Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities  

with Equity Instruments

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current 
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions 
for the current and prior accounting periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the following two aspects: (a) HKAS 
24 (as revised in 2009) has changed the definition of a related party and (b) HKAS 24 
(as revised in 2009) introduces a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for 
government-related entities.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not government-related entities. The application 
of the revised definition of related party set out in HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) in 
the current year has not resulted in the identification of related parties that were not 
identified as related parties under the previous Standard. The related party disclosures set 
out in note 44 are not required to be changed as a result of the application of the revised 
Standard.

New/revised HKFRSs not adopted

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the following 
new and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations which are not yet effective 
for the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Group has not early applied any of the following new and revised Standards, 
Amendments or Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

Possible impact of new and revised Standards, Amendments or Interpretations issued but 
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets1

Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and  
Financial Liabilities2

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and Transition 
Disclosures3

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments3

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements2

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities2

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income5

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax – Recovery of Underlying Assets4

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits2

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements2

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities6

HK(IFRIC) – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of  
a Surface Mine2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these new 
and revised HKFRSs is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has 
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

c) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company 
and all of its subsidiaries made up to 31 December. The results of subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
appropriate.

All material inter-company transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on 
consolidation.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill or 
capital reserve which was not previously charged or recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-controlling interests represent the interests of outside shareholders in the operating 
results and net assets of subsidiaries.

d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently exercisable 
are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group 
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly 
or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any 
additional terms with the holders of those interests which would result in the Group 
as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the 
definition of a financial liability.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders 
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on 
the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the 
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling 
interests and the owners of the Company. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1 January 
2010 onwards). Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual 
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position in accordance with notes 2(i), (j), (u) or (x) depending on 
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of 
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change 
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is 
recognised.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the 
entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit 
or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition 
of a financial asset (see note 2(k)) .

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated 
at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(i)) , unless the investment is classified as held for 
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the 
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition 
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are 
recognised at their acquisition-date fair values, except that:

– a deferred tax asset or liability arising from the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination and the potential tax effects of temporary 
differences and carry forwards of an acquiree that exist at the acquisition date or 
arise as a result of the acquisition are recognised and measured in accordance with 
HKAS 12 Income Tax ;

– assets or liabilities relating to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and 
measured in accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits ;

– liabilities or equity instruments relating to share-based payment arrangements of the 
acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace 
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree and measured and measured 
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the 
accounting policy below); and

– assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are 
measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the 
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 
If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the 
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e) Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders 
to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be 
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate 
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis 
specified in another HKFRS.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes 
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent 
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted 
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill. 
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information 
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the 
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent 
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability 
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement , or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets , as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being 
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date 
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed 
of.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e) Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts 
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are 
adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities 
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 
recognised at that date.

The policy described above is applied into all business combinations that take place on or 
after January 2010.

f) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the 
date or acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy above) less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. 
If same or all of the goodwill allocated to a cash-generating unit was acquired in a 
business combination during the current annual period, that unit shall be tested for 
impairment before the end of the current annual period. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit 
or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of 
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives acquired by the Group are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses (see note 2(i)) . Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and 
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognised as an expense when 
the Group either has the right to access the goods or has received the service.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The intangible assets in respect 
of trademarks with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for 
use and their estimated useful lives of 25 years.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)) .

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash 
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a 
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant 
and equipment are determined as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal 
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of 
retirement or disposal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been 
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the 
existing asset, will flow to the enterprise. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised 
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, 
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

– buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no 
more than 50 years after the date of completion;

– other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the remaining term of the lease,  
if shorter

Furniture and equipment 5 to 8 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the 
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and 
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, 
if any, are reviewed annually.



52 CHINA FINANCIAL SERVICES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Impairment of assets

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and receivables

Investments in equity securities other than current and non-current receivables that 
are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale equity 
securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether 
there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of the 
following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
that have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity 
instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as 
follows:

– For investments in subsidiaries and associate (including those recognised 
using the equity method the impairment loss is measured by comparing the 
recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount in accordance 
with note 2(i)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in 
accordance with note 2(i)(ii).

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, impairment loss is measured 
as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for 
a similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment 
losses for equity securities are not reversed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Impairment of assets (continued)

i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and other receivables (continued)

– For accounts receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting 
is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial assets 
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past 
due status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash 
flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are 
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal 
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that 
which would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior 
years.

– For available-for-sale equity securities which are stated at fair value, when a 
decline in the fair value has been recognised in other comprehensive income 
and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income shall be reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment even though the 
financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss 
that is recognised in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost 
(net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity 
securities are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair 
value of such assets is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except 
for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade debtors included within trade 
and other receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In 
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance 
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered 
irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly and any amounts held in 
the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against 
the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Impairment of assets (continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, 
except in the case of goodwill an impairment loss previously recognised no longer 
exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– prepaid lease payments;

– intangible assets; and

– goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, 
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available for use and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually 
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. 
a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, 
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 
individual fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i) Impairment of assets (continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior 
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in 
which the reversals are recognised.

iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report 
in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six 
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the 
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of 
the financial year (see note 2(i)) .

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill and 
available-for-sale equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent 
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised 
had the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the 
interim period relates.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

j) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

i) Financial guarantees issued

A loan guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails 
to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a 
debt instrument. A loan guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair value less 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the loan guarantee 
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the loan guarantee 
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets , and (ii) the amount 
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue .

Undue liability provision is recognised at 50% of the guarantee income in the year it 
is generated.

Guarantee compensation provision is recognised at 1% of the year-end balance of 
the guarantee liability in the year it arisen.

ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the 
Company or Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money 
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or 
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent 
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible 
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

k) Financial assets

The Group classified its investments in securities in the following categories: available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired.

i) Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any 
resultant gain or loss being recognised directly in equity. Dividend income from these 
investments is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in 
note 2(m)(v) and, where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated 
using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as set out in note 
2(m)(vi). When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale investments that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that 
are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, 
they are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The 
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar investments. Such 
impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent period.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group and/or the 
Company commits to purchase/sell the investments or when they expire.

ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is 
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term or if so designated by management. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 
12 months of the end of the reporting period. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are carried at fair value, realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of these investments are included in the profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise.
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k) Financial assets (continued)

iii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. They 
arise when the Group provides money or services directly to a debtor or a related 
company with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of reporting 
period. These are classified as non-current assets.

Reclassification of financial assets, other than as set out below, or of financial 
liabilities between categories are not permitted following their initial recognition.

Held for trading non-derivative financial assets can only be transferred out of the 
held at fair value through profit or loss category in the following circumstances: 
to the available-for-sale category, where, in rare circumstances, they are no longer 
held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term; or to the loan and 
receivables category, where they are no longer held for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing in the near term and they would have met the definition of a loan and 
receivable at the date of reclassification and the Group has the intent and ability to 
hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Financial assets can only be transferred out of the available-for-sale category to the 
loan and receivables category, where they would have met the definition of a loan 
and receivable at the date of reclassification and the Group has the intent and ability 
to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Financial assets are reclassified at their fair value on the date of reclassification. 
For financial assets reclassified out the available-for-sale category into loans and 
receivables, any gain or loss on those assets recognised in shareholders’ equity prior 
to the date of reclassification is amortised to the profit or loss over the remaining life 
of the financial assets, using the effective interest method.
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l) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying 
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable 
and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of 
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria 
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling 
interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the 
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

m) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided 
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and 
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as 
follows:

i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised on the transfer of risks 
and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the 
merchandise are delivered to customers and title has passed.

ii) Promotion and store display income, income from leasing of merchandise storage 
space are recognised according to contract terms and as services are provided.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

m) Revenue recognition (continued)

iii) Revenue from short-term financing services

– Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably. Interest income from a financial assets is accrued on a time 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial assets to that asset’s net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.

– Loan guarantee service income, consists of guarantee fee and related service 
income and is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
guarantee period.

– Financing consultancy service income, which is collected from the customer at 
the inception of pawn loan and other short-term loan, is recognised when the 
services are rendered.

iv) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in 
equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an 
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from 
the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or 
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent 
rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

v) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s 
right to receive payment is established. Dividend income from listed investments is 
recognised when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

vi) Other interest income

Other interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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m) Revenue recognition (continued)

vii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially 
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Government grants shall be 
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants that 
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted in arriving at the 
carrying amount of the asset and consequently are recognised as income over the 
life of a depreciable asset by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

viii) Sale of trading securities

Revenue on sale of trading securities is recognised on a trade date basis when the 
relevant transactions are executed.

n) Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for impairment of 
doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related 
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be 
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment 
of doubtful debts (see note 2(i)) .

o) Short-term loans receivable

Short-term loans receivable secured by the pledge of personal property are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. A typical short-term loan has a term of one to twelve months. If the loan 
is not repaid, the loan principal becomes the cost of the forfeited collateral, which is held 
for sale.

p) Accounts and other payables

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at 
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 
are stated at cost.
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q) Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss, except those arising 
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation 
which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction 
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the 
fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. 
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of 
foreign operations acquired on or after 30 January 2008, are translated into Hong 
Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. 
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on 
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 30 January 2008 is translated at the 
foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of foreign operation.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a 
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes 
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate 
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity 
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences 
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. 
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that do not result in the 
Group losing significant influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange 
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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r) Retirement scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident fund retirement benefits 
scheme (the “Hong Kong Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate in the Hong Kong Scheme. 
The Hong Kong Scheme became effective on 1 December 2000. Contributions are made 
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 
Hong Kong Scheme. The assets of the Hong Kong Scheme are held separately from those 
of the group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions 
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the Hong Kong Scheme.

For the Group’s PRC operations participate in defined contribution retirement plans 
managed by the local municipal government in the locations in which it operates. The 
relevant authorities of the local municipal government in the PRC is responsible for the 
retirement benefit obligations payable to the Group’s retired employees. The Group has 
no obligation for payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual contribution. The 
contribution payable is charged as an expense to profit or loss as and when incurred.

s) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs such as direct labour costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are 
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any 
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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t) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with 
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences 
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support 
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, 
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of 
the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the 
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when 
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of 
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences 
are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable 
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit 
can be utilised.
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u) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those 
temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial 
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit 
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the 
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is 
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction 
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when 
the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented 
separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against 
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the 
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax 
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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v) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under 
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods 
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of 
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are 
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. 
Contingent rentals are charged as expenses in the accounting period in which they are 
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease term except where the property is classified as an 
investment property.

w) Investment properties

Investment property is property (land and/or a building – or part of a building – or both) 
held (by the owner or by the lessee under a finance lease) to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both, rather than for:

i) use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; 
or

ii) sale in the ordinary course of business.

Land held under operating leases are classified and accounted for as investment property 
when the rest of the definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is 
accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based 
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location 
or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses 
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted 
cash flow projections. These valuations are performed in accordance with the guidance 
issued by the International Valuation Standards Committee. These valuations are reviewed 
annually by external valuers. Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing 
use as investment property, or for which the market has become less active, continues to 
be measured at fair value.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from 
current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of 
current market conditions.
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w) Investment properties (continued)

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected 
in respect of the property. Some of those outflows are recognised as a liability, including 
finance lease liabilities in respect of land classified as investment property; others, 
including contingent rent payments, are not recognised in the financial statements.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period 
in which they are incurred. Changes in fair values are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant 
and equipment, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for 
accounting purposes. Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment property is classified as property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until 
construction or development is complete, at which time it is reclassified and subsequently 
accounted for as investment property.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its 
use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value 
of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment under HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous 
impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Investment property held for sale without redevelopment is classified within non-current 
assets held for sale under HKFRS 5.

x) Employee benefits

i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans, leave passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits 
are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees 
of the Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be 
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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x) Employee benefits (continued)

ii) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee 
cost with a corresponding increase in capital reserve within equity. The fair value is 
measured at grant date using the Black Scholes Option Pricing model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Where the 
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled 
to the options, the total estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting 
period, taking into account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected to vest is 
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior 
years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the 
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding 
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as 
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a 
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due 
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the company’s 
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option 
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the option 
expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably 
commits itself to terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of 
voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal.

y) Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that 
person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent.
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y) Related parties (continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 
entity.

z) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready 
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences 
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred 
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially 
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are 
interrupted or complete.
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aa) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being 
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method.

ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the 
Company’s board of directors for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing 
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting 
purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in 
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the 
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are 
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ac) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when 
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same 
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the 
cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are 
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced 
depreciation expense.
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ad) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and 
cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is 
part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to 
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation 
is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face 
of the income statement, which comprises:

– the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

– the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs 
to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the 
discontinued operation.

3. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of integrated short-term financing 
services comprising money lending loan services, loan guarantee services and related 
management and consultancy services and retail business of convenience stores.

Turnover represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after deduction of relevant taxes 
and allowances for returns and trade discounts in convenience stores, financial service income 
comprising interest income, loan guarantee service income and financing consultancy service 
income arising on provision of short-term financing services in short-term financing business 
during the year.
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The Group’s turnover, other revenue and other net income for the year arose from continuing 
operations of the following activities:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
Convenience store operations 264,450 201,515
Interest income on provision of short-term  

financing service 20,166 2,570
Loan guarantee service income 1,099 –
Financing consultancy service income 96,412 12,937  

382,127 217,022  

Other revenue
Bank interest income, being total interest  

income on financial assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss 1,415 451

Rental receivable from operating leases,  
less direct outgoings of Nil (2010: Nil) 7,751 6,284

Dividend income from listed investments 939 560
Promotion and store display income from suppliers 29,520 25,303  

39,625 32,598  

Other net income
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss – 2,650
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale  

investments 3,191 9,864
Exchange gain, net – 5,236
Compensation (note) – 22,870
Income from government subsidies – 976
Gross rental income from sub-leasing of shop 

premises 3,441 3,659
Others 2,831 4,535
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 168  

9,463 49,958  
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3. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET INCOME (continued)

Note: On 11 August 2009, a former subsidiary within the Group, Hualian GMS Shopping Centre Company Limited, 
signed a letter of intent (“LOI”) with Shanghai Xin Meng Investment Company Limited (The “Vendor”) and ARC 
Capital Holding Limited (The “Guarantor”) pursuant to which the Group is granted a pre-emptive right for the 
possible acquisition in consideration of payment of an earnest money of RMB500 million to the Vendor. If the 
formal acquisition cannot be concluded, the earnest money shall be repaid to the Group upon expiry of the 
pre-emptive period together with a compensation fee at the rate of 15% per annum (subject to a minimum of 
return of 8% per annum for a period of six months). On 28 January 2010, the parties of the LOI entered into a 
cancellation agreement pursuant to which the LOI was terminated with effect from the date of the cancellation 
agreement and none of the parties have any further obligation or liability under the LOI. The Vendor paid a 
compensation fee of RMB20 million (approximately equivalent to HK$22,870,000) to the Group, according to 
the terms set out in the LOI by 30 June 2010.

4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organized by a mixture of both 
business lines (products and services) and geography. In a manner consistent with the way 
in which information is reported internally to the Company’s board of directors and the 
chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and performance 
assessment, the Group has presented the following reportable segments.

1. Convenience stores

2. Short-term financing services

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and allocating resources between 
segments, the Company’s board of directors, the chief operating decision makers, 
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the 
following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current assets with the 
exception of interests in associates, deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. 
Segment liabilities include trade and other payables attributable to the activities of the 
individual segments and bank borrowings managed directly by segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” 
is regarded as including investment income and “depreciation and amortisation” is 
regarded as including impairment losses on non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted 
EBITDA the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed 
to individual segments, such as share of profits less losses of associates, directors’ and 
auditors’ remuneration and other head office or corporate administration costs
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4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (continued)

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted EBITDA, management 
is provided with segment information concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), 
interest income and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the 
segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses and additions to non-current 
segment assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced 
with reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders or services.

The two reportable operating segments are listed as follows:

i) Convenience stores engaged in the distribution of live and fresh products, dry 
products, beverages, processed food and daily necessities through the convenience 
stores of the Group;

ii) Short-term financing service engaged in the provision of short-term financing, loan 
guarantee and consultancy service.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing 
operations by reportable segment.

Convenience stores Short-term financing service Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external 
customer 264,450 201,515 97,511 12,937 361,961 214,452

Interest revenue – – 20,166 2,570 20,166 2,570          

Reportable segment revenue 264,450 201,515 117,677 15,507 382,127 217,022
          

Reportable segment profit 
before taxation 8,558 936 81,622 6,574 90,180 7,510

          

Interest income – 319 842 – 842 319
Promotion and store display 

income from suppliers 29,520 25,303 – – 29,520 25,303
Interest expenses – – – – – –
Depreciation and amortisation – – 219 140 219 140
Income tax (2,139) (292) (22,622) (1,644) (24,761) (1,936)
Reportable segment assets 130,000 126,900 1,566,210 49,373 1,696,210 176,273
Reportable segment liabilities (85,581) (59,988) (170,808) (22,015) (256,389) (82,003)
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4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and 
liabilities

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Reportable segments’ revenue 382,127 217,022  

Consolidated revenue 382,127 217,022  

Profit

Reportable segments’ profit derived form  
Group’s external customers 90,180 7,510

Unallocated other revenue 14,143 36,543
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (19,452) (12,496)  

Consolidated profit before taxation 84,871 31,557  

Assets

Reportable segments’ assets 1,696,210 176,273
Unallocated head office and corporate assets 96,780 635,508
Investment property – 73,959
Assets classified as held-for-sale 73,959 –  

Consolidated total assets 1,866,949 885,740  

Liabilities

Reportable segments’ liabilities (256,389) (82,003)
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities (43,282) (29,595)  

Consolidated total liabilities (299,671) (111,598)  
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4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

c) Geographical Information

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the goods are 
delivered and services are rendered. Substantially, all of the Group’s revenue from external 
customers, non-current assets and capital expenditure are located in the People’s Republic 
of China (“PRC”), no analysis on revenue from external customers and non-current assets 
by location are presented.

d) Information about major customers

The Group has a very wide customer base, no single customer contributed more than 
10% of the Group’s revenue for each of the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011.

5. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit from continuing operations before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Depreciation 760 731
Amortisation of intangible assets 18 18
Operating lease payments – land and buildings 32,592 28,248
Auditors’ remuneration 1,008 950
Written off of fixed assets 202 –
Impairment loss for short-term loans receivable 1,535 –
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – 8,080
Cost of inventories 197,862 156,126
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration  

– note 7 ):
Salaries, allowances and other benefits 46,771 39,392
Pension scheme contribution 5,993 5,970
Equity settled share-based payment expenses – 7,788

52,764 53,150  
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6. FINANCE COSTS

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Interest expense on bank loans, bank overdrafts  

and other loans repayable within five years,  
being total interest expense on financial  
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss 1,018 1,550  

7. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance is as follows:

i) The details of emoluments of every director are shown below:

Year ended 31 December 2011
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and other Share-based scheme

Fees benefits payments contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Cheung Siu Lam (Chairman) – 3,956 – 12 3,968
Chan Yuk Ming  (Vice chairman) – 891 – 12 903
Tao Ye (note (a)) – 918 – – 918

Non-executive directors
Liu Hui 40 – – – 40
Lo Wan (note (b)) 18 364 – 12 394

Independent non-executive 
directors

Wang Jian Sheng 40 – – – 40
Chan Chun Keung 40 – – – 40
Tsang Kwok Wai 80 – – – 80

     

218 6,129 – 36 6,383
     



78 CHINA FINANCIAL SERVICES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

7. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ REMUNERATION 
(continued)

i) The details of emoluments of every director are shown below: (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2010
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and other Share-based scheme

Fees benefits payments contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Cheung Siu Lam (Chairman) – 3,512 216 12 3,740
Chan Yuk Ming (Vice chairman) – 839 432 12 1,283
Lo Wan – 303 216 12 531

Non-executive directors
Liu Hui 40 – – – 40

Independent non-executive 
directors

Wang Jian Sheng 40 – – – 40
Chan Chun Keung 40 – – – 40
Tsang Kwok Wai 80 – – – 80     

200 4,654 864 36 5,754
     

As at 31 December 2011, the directors held share options under the Company’s share 
option scheme. The details of the share options are disclosed under the paragraph “Share 
Option Scheme” in the report of the directors and in note 36.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year. No incentive payment or 
compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to any directors for the year ended 
31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

Notes:

(a) Mr. Tao Ye was appointed as executive director on 15 July 2011.

(b) Madam Lo Wan was re-designated from executive director to non-executive director on 15 July 2011.
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ REMUNERATION 
(continued)

ii) Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2010: three) were 
directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosure in note 7(i) 
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2010: two) individual(s) were as follows:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 952 1,069
Retirement scheme contribution 12 24
Share-based payments – 432  

964 1,525  

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest paid individuals (including 
directors and other employees) as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of the one (2010: two) individual(s) other than directors with the highest 
emoluments are within the following bands:

2011 2010

Number of individuals

HK$Nil up to HK$1,000,000 1 2  
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8. INCOME TAX (RELATING TO CONTINUING OPERATIONS)

a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
PRC Enterprise Income tax 22,215 2,232
(Over-provision)/under-provision of PRC 

Enterprise Income Tax in prior years (701) 316

Deferred tax
Current year 3,982 2,017  

Tax charge 25,496 4,565  

b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at the applicable tax rate:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation from continuing operations 84,871 31,557  

Notional tax on profit before taxation,  
calculated at the rates applicable to profits  
in the tax jurisdictions concerned 21,436 8,042

Income not subject to taxation (12,067) (8,023)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 11,266 1,908
Effect of unrecognised temporary difference – (79)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised – (787)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 1,580 3,188
(Over-provision)/under-provision in prior years (701) 316
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the 

distributable profits of the Group’s PRC 
subsidiaries 3,982 –  

Tax charge 25,496 4,565  
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8. INCOME TAX (RELATING TO CONTINUING OPERATIONS) (continued)

b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at the applicable tax rate: 
(continued)

Tax effects relating to each components of other comprehensive income

2011 2010
Before Tax Net-of- Before- Tax Net-of

tax (expense)/ tax tax (expense)/ tax
amount benefit amount amount benefit amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Exchange differences on 
translation of financial 
statements of overseas 
subsidiaries 18,438 – 18,438 8,571 – 8,571

Change in fair value 
of available-for-sale 
investments (5,041) – (5,041) (6,724) – (6,724)

      

No provision for profits tax in Hong Kong has been made as the Group has no income 
assessable for profits tax for the year in Hong Kong.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% (2010: 25%).

c) Taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January (1,510) (982)
Provision for the year

– PRC taxation (38,884) (2,232)
Over-provision/(under-provision) in prior year 701 (316)
Taxation paid for PRC enterprise 4,950 2,020  

At 31 December (34,743) (1,510)  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Tax recoverable 268 –
Tax payable (35,011) (1,510)  

(34,743) (1,510)  
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 24 March 2010, K.P.B. Marketing Limited (“K.P.B.”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company entered into a sale agreement with Best Links (HK) Co., to dispose of the 
entire issued share capital in K.P.I. (BVI) Retail Management Company Limited, a company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability which directly and indirectly holds 
60% of the equity interests in Hualian GMS which mainly engaged in supermarket operations, 
at a consideration of approximately HK$504 million. The disposal of the supermarket 
operations is consistent with the Group’s long-term policy to focus its resources in the 
convenience stores chain operation and provision of short-term financing service operations. 
The disposal was completed on 19 August 2010, on which date control of the supermarket 
operations passed to the acquirer. Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the 
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal, are disclosed in below:

Analysis of profit for the year from discontinued operations

The results of the discontinued operation (i.e. supermarket operation) included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows 
are set out below. The comparative profit and cash flows from discontinued operations have 
been re-presented to include those operations classified as discontinued in 2010.

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year from discontinued operations

Turnover – 1,214,880
Cost of sales – (1,095,840)
Other gains – 143,206
Expenses – (246,734)  

Profit before tax – 15,512
Income tax expense – (2,278)  

– 13,234  

Loss on disposal of operations – (8,080)  

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 
attributable to owners of the Company – 5,154  

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 
include the following:

Depreciation and amortisation – 24,546

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Net cash inflow from operating activities – 115,979
Net cash outflow from investing activities – (23,704)
Net cash outflow from financing activities – (92,801)  

Net cash outflow – (526)  
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10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company includes a profit of 
HK$44,665,000 (2010: HK$2,542,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements 
of the Company.

11. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2011 (2010: Nil).

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the 
Company is based on the following data:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 

(profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company) 57,302 25,355  

2011 2010

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  

for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,414,605,075 1,725,935,213
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the  

Company’s share options scheme 5,902,353 12,326,592  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 2,420,507,428 1,738,261,805  



84 CHINA FINANCIAL SERVICES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of  
the Company 57,302 25,355

Adjustment for profit for the year from  
discontinued operations – 1,456  

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 
from continuing operations attributable to  
owners of the Company 57,302 26,811  

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted 
earnings per share.

From discontinued operations

In 2010, basic earnings per share for the discontinued operations attributable to owners of 
the Company is earning of HK0.084 cents per share and diluted earnings per share for the 
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company is earning of HK0.084 cents 
per share in 2010, based on the profit for the year from the discontinued operations of the 
Company of profit of HK$1.46 million in 2010 and the denominators detailed above for both 
basic and diluted earnings per share.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Leasehold land 
and building 
held for own 

use carried 
at cost

Leasehold 
improvements

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
and 

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1/1/2010 2,125 101,979 3,893 66,464 174,461
Additions – 10,645 587 14,780 26,012
Disposals – (29,051) (746) (18,039) (47,836)
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries – (81,792) (1,155) (62,051) (144,998)
Exchange adjustment – 5 – 11 16     

At 31/12/2010 and 1/1/2011 2,125 1,786 2,579 1,165 7,655
Additions – 5,104 1,952 1,405 8,461
Through acquisition of subsidiaries – – 4 204 208
Written off – (259) – (124) (383)
Exchange adjustment – 12 – 38 50     

At 31/12/2011 2,125 6,643 4,535 2,688 15,991
     

Accumulated depreciation
At 1/1/2010 939 57,083 2,518 42,853 103,393
Charge for the year 33 10,424 698 9,733 20,888
Written back and disposals – (28,829) (754) (16,700) (46,283)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries – (38,070) (676) (35,222) (73,968)
Exchange adjustment – 3 – (2) 1     

At 31/12/2010 and 1/1/2011 972 611 1,786 662 4,031
Charge for the year 33 11 402 314 760
Written off – (127) – (54) (181)
Exchange adjustment – 3 1 9 13     

At 31/12/2011 1,005 498 2,189 931 4,623
     

Carrying amount
At 31/12/2011 1,120 6,145 2,346 1,757 11,368

     

At 31/12/2010 1,153 1,175 793 503 3,624
     

The leasehold land and building of the Group is held under medium term lease and situated in 
Hong Kong.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company

Furniture
Leasehold Motor and

improvements vehicles equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1/1/2010 378 1,992 495 2,865
Additions – – 72 72    

At 31/12/2010 and 1/1/2011 378 1,992 567 2,937
Additions – – 29 29    

At 31/12/2011 378 1,992 596 2,966    

Accumulated depreciation
At 1/1/2010 378 1,503 351 2,232
Charge for the year – 244 70 314    

At 31/12/2010 and 1/1/2011 378 1,747 421 2,546
Charge for the year – 245 84 329    

At 31/12/2011 378 1,992 505 2,875    

Carrying amount
At 31/12/2011 – – 91 91    

At 31/12/2010 – 245 146 391    
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14. LAND LEASE PREMIUM

The Group’s interests in lease premium for land represent prepaid operating lease payments 
and their carrying amount are analysed as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January, as previously reported – 881
Effect of adoption of HKAS17 (Amendment) – (881)  

Carrying amount at 1 January, as restated – –  

Carrying amount at 31 December, as restated – –  

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

At valuation:
At 1 January – 65,893
Increase in fair value – 8,066  

At 31 December – 73,959  

The Group's investment property is situated at No.88, Xi San Wan Road North, Hai Ding 
District, Beijing. It is held under a long term lease for rental purpose. It was stated at fair 
value as at 31 December 2011. The investment property was revalued on 31 October 2011 
by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with 
the Group. RHL Appraisal Limited has appropriate qualifications in the valuation of properties. 
The valuation, which conforms to Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Valuation Standards 
on Properties, was mainly arrived at by Direct Comparison Approach by making reference 
to the comparable market transactions as available and where appropriate, on the basis 
of capitalization of the net income derived from the existing tenancies with allowance for 
outgoings and, in appropriate case, made provisions for reversionary income potential. The 
management considered that there is no significant change in fair value of the investment 
property from the valuation date of 31 October 2011 to 31 December 2011.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The Group's investment property was pledged to a bank in the PRC to secure banking facilities 
granted to a subsidiary of the Group in February 2009 (note 45) .

On 30 November 2011, the Group entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement pursuant 
Agreement pursuant to which the Group has agreed to sell the investment property (note 41) .

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS – TRADEMARKS

Group
Hualian GMS Hi-24 Total

(note a) (note b)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1/1/2010, 31/12/2010 and 31/12/2011 – 448 448   

Accumulated amortisation
At 1/1/2010 13,290 27 13,317
Amortisation for the year 4,389 18 4,407
Written back on disposal of subsidiaries (17,679) – (17,679)   

At 31/12/2010 and 1/1/2011 – 45 45
Amortisation for the year – 18 18   

At 31/12/2011 – 63 63   

Carrying amount
At 31/12/2011 – 385 385   

At 31/12/2010 – 403 403   

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative expenses” in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Note:

a) Hualian GMS is the trademark for a supermarket chain operation. The supermarket chain operation was 
discontinued in 2010, which is described in more detail in note 9.

b) Hi-24 is the trademark for a convenience chain stores operation.
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 14,269 33,519  

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the 
results, assets or liabilities of the Group:

Name

Country of 

incorporation/ 

registration and 

operations

Nominal value of 

registered share 

capital

Percentage of 

equity attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

K.P.B. Group Holdings Limited British Virgin  

Islands (“BVI”)/ 

Hong Kong

Ordinary US$12 100% – Investment holding

北京華夏興業投資擔保 

有限公司 (note l)
PRC Registered capital

 RMB100,000,000

100% – Provision of loan 

guarantee service

Charter Merit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Holding of a club 

membership

Charter Paradise Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Holding of a club 

membership

K.P.A. Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

Deferred HK$2

K.P.B. Asset Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$6 – 100% Investment holding

K.P.B. Marketing Limited  

(“KPB Marketing”)

BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$2 – 100% Investment holding

K.P.B.-T.C. Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

K.P.B. Trading Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$4 – 100% Investment holding

K.P.I. Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 

Deferred 

HK$10,000

– 100% Trading of financial 

securities
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Name

Country of 

incorporation/ 

registration and 

operations

Nominal value of 

registered share 

capital

Percentage of 

equity attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

K.P.I. Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 

Deferred HK$2

– 100% Investment holding and 

property investment

K.P.I. International Trading 

Company Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 

Deferred HK$2

– 100% Holding of a club 

membership and 

trading of financial 

securities

K.P.I. (BVI) Retail Management 

Company Limited (“KPIRM”)

BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary 

US$18,087,700

– Disposed on 

19 August 

2010

Investment holding

K.P.I. Convenience Retail 

Company Limited (“KPICR”)

BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$50,000 – 72% Investment holding

Bestjoy International Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$10 – Disposed on 

19 August 

2010

Investment holding

K.P.I. Property Investment  

Company Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

北京嘉鑫銘物業管理 

有限公司 (note g)
PRC Registered capital 

US$10,000,000

– 100% Provision of property 

management service

北京中金投財務諮詢有限公司 

(note h)  (formerly known as 
“北京港佳匯通財務諮詢 

有限公司”)

PRC Registered capital 

RMB300,000

– 100% Provision of financing 

consultancy service

北京中金投商業經紀有限公司 

(note i)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB500,000

– 100% Provision of rental 

service

北京中金港資產管理有限公司 

(note j)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB500,000

– 100% Provision of financing 

consultancy service

北京惠豐融金小額貸款 

有限公司 (note k)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB50,000,000

– 70% Provision of short-term 

financing service

K.P. Financial Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

KP Financial Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 – 100% Investment holding

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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Name

Country of 

incorporation/ 

registration and 

operations

Nominal value of 

registered share 

capital

Percentage of 

equity attributable 

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

KP Financial Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 

HK$1

– 100% Money lending business

華聯集團吉買盛購物中心 

有限公司 (note a)
PRC Registered 

capital 

RMB80,000,000

– Disposed on 

19 August 

2010

Supermarket chains

海口港佳貿易有限公司 

（海口港佳）(note b)
PRC Registered 

capital 

US$25,400,000

– 100% Investment holding and 

property investment

上海港佳倍盛經貿有限公司# 

(note c)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB2,000,000

– 100% General trading

北京中嘉利通商貿 

有限公司 (note d)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB30,000,000

– 100% General trading

北京中港佳鄰商業 

有限公司 (note e)
PRC Registered capital 

US$13,000,000

– 72% Convenience stores 

chain

北京萬方利通典當行 

有限公司 (note f)
PRC Registered capital 

RMB80,000,000

– 100% Provision of 

short-term financing 

services

# Not audited by CCIF CPA Limited

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

a) 華聯集團吉買盛購物中心有限公司 (Hualian GMS Shopping Center Company Limited*) (“Hualian GMS”) is an 
equity joint venture established in the PRC to be operated for 20 years up to March 2016. The operating license 
will be renewed the validity period. Hualian GMS was disposed in 2010, which described in more detail in note 
9.

b) 海口港佳 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC to be operated for 20 years up to August 
2015. The operating license will be renewed the validity period.

c) 上海港佳倍盛經貿有限公司 is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC to be operated for 10 
years up to March 2012. The operating licence will not be renewed after the validity period.

d) 北京中嘉利通商貿有限公司 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise by 海口港佳to be operated for 15 years up to 
March 2023.

e) 北京中港佳鄰商業有限公司 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC to be operated for 20 
years up to March 2028.

f) 北京萬方利通典當行有限公司 is a limited liability company established in the PRC.

g) 北京嘉鑫銘物業管理有限公司 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC to be operated for 20 
years up to December 2030.

h) 北京中金投財務諮詢有限公司 (formerly known as “北京港佳匯通財務諮詢有限公司”) is a wholly foreign owned 
enterprise established in the PRC to be operated for 20 years up to December 2030. The company name was 
changed on 12 May 2011.

i) 北京中金投商業經紀有限公司 is a limited liability company established in the PRC.

j) 北京中金港資產管理有限公司 is a limited liability company established in the PRC.

k) 北京惠豐融金小額貸款有限公司 is a limited liability company established in the PRC.

l) 北京華夏興業投資擔保有限公司 is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC to be operated for 
20 years up to June 2031.

* For identification purposes only.
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18. GOODWILL

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount
At 1 January – 377,972
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries  

during the year (note 40) 622,703 –
Disposal (note 39) – (377,972)  

At 31 December 622,703 –  

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) identified according to 
reportable segments as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000

Short-term financing operation 622,703 N/A  

Impairment tests for cash-generating unit containing goodwill

As at 31 December 2011, the Group engaged Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent 
qualified professional valuer to assess the recoverable amount of the CGU and determined that 
the recoverable amount of the CGU is approximately HK$1,246,000,000 (2010: Nil).

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a five year period. Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on 
past performance and its expectations for market development. The growth rates used are 
by references to the forecasts based on the funds available for the Group’s loan financing 
business and does not exceed the forecasts included in industry reports. The discount rates 
used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant operating segments. Cashflow 
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using the estimated gross margin of 87%, 
discount rate of 29.69% and zero growth rate. The growth rate dose not exceeds the long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.

The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the 
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its 
recoverable amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed securities, at fair value – Hong Kong 61,814 44,961
Unlisted investments:

– Golf club memberships, at cost 2,761 2,761
– Long term equity interest, at cost (Note) 773 773  

Total 65,348 48,495  

Note:  As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, the Group’s long term equity interest was not stated at fair value but at 
cost because it did not have a quoted market price in an active market and the fair value cannot be reliably 
measured. No impairment is recognised since there is no objective evidence that the long term equity interests 
will be impaired.

20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable 8,012 1,143  

All the accounts receivable are expected to be recovered within one year. The carrying amount 
of accounts receivable approximate to their fair value.

Accounts receivable are due within 30 days from date of billing.
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20. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

a) Aging analysis

The aging analysis of accounts receivable at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Outstanding balances with ages
Due within 1 month or on demand 3,660 1,143
Due after 1 month but within 3 months – –
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 2,202 –
Due after 6 months 2,150 –  

8,012 1,143  

b) Accounts receivable that are not impaired

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 3,660 1,143
Past due but not impaired 4,352 –  

8,012 1,143  

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor impaired relate to recognised and 
creditworthy customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of 
independent customers that have a good tract record with the Company. Based on past 
experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect 
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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21. INTERESTS RECEIVABLE

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests receivable 6,283 –  

All of the interests receivable are expected to be recovered within one year.

a) Aging analysis

The aging analysis of interests receivable at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Due within 1 month or on demand 2,900 –
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 1,009 –
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 700 –
Due after 6 months 1,674 –  

6,283 –  

b) Interests receivable that are not impaired

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 6,283 –  

Interests receivable that were neither past due nor impaired related to recognised and 
creditworthy customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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22. SHORT-TERM LOANS RECEIVABLE

Group

2011 2010
Other short- Other short-

Pawn loans term loans Pawn loans term loans
receivable receivable Total receivable receivable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross loans advanced 232,703 697,319 930,022 328,359 – 328,359
Repayment during the year (115,984) (2,874) (118,858) (142,150) – (142,150)
Allowance for doubtful debts (1,143) (392) (1,535) – – –
Exchange adjustment (25) (8) (33) – – –      

115,551 694,045 809,596 186,209 – 186,209      

The Group offers loans secured by tangible personal property, such as real estate merchandise, 
commonly known as short-term loans. A typical short-term loan generally has a term of 30 
days to 360 days. All of the short-term loans receivable are expected to be recovered within 
one year.

a) Aging analysis

The aging analysis of short-term loans receivable at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2011 2010
Other short- Other short-

Pawn loans term loans Pawn loans term loans
receivable receivable Total receivable receivable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Outstanding balance with ages

Due within 1 month or  
on demand 25,268 78,148 103,416 186,209 – 186,209

Due after 1 month  
but within  
3 months 12,212 47,449 59,661 – – –

Due after 3 months 79,239 568,848 648,087 – – –
Allowance for  

doubtful debts (1,143) (392) (1,535) – – –
Exchange adjustment (25) (8) (33) – – –      

115,551 694,045 809,596 186,209 – 186,209      
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22. SHORT-TERM LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

b) Impairment of short-term loans receivable

Impairment losses in respect of short-term loans receivable are recorded using an 
allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in 
which case the impairment loss is written off against short-term loans receivable directly 
(see note 2(i)) .

Movements in allowance for doubtful debts

2011 2010
Other short- Other short-

Pawn loans term loans Pawn loans term loans
receivable receivable Total receivable receivable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January – – – N/A N/A N/A
Impairment loss recognised 1,143 392 1,535 N/A N/A N/A      

At 31 December 1,143 392 1,535 N/A N/A N/A
      

As at 31 December 2011, no short-term loans receivable were individually determined to 
be impaired (2010: N/A).

c) Short-term loans receivable

2011 2010
Other short- Other short-

Pawn loans term loans Pawn loans term loans
receivable receivable Total receivable receivable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans to customers

Neither past due nor  
impaired 68,973 694,045 763,018 186,209 – 186,209

Past due but not  
yet impaired 46,578 – 46,578 – – –      

115,551 694,045 809,596 186,209 – 186,209
      

Short-term loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired relate to recognised 
and creditworthy borrowers for whom there was no recent history of default.
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22. SHORT-TERM LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

d) All the Group’s short-term loans receivable in the PRC were denominated in RMB. The 
short-term loans receivable in the PRC carry interest plus service charge at a monthly 
effective rate of 1% to 3.2%.

Note: (a) As at 31 December 2011, approximately RMB46,020,000 represented pawn loans receivable 
attributable to loans renewals.

 (b) As at 31 December 2011, the Group held col latera ls with va lue of approx imate ly 
RMB1,785,460,000 in total over the pawn loans receivable and other short-term loans receivable.

23. SECURITY DEPOSITS

Security deposits are place by the Group with banks to secure the Group’s due performance in 
relation to the financial service business in the PRC.

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial derivatives 3,898 35,558  

25. INVENTORIES

a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Commodities held for sale 20,777 35,581  

As at 31 December 2011, none of the inventories were carried at net realisable value 
(2010: Nil).

b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold in 
continuing operations 197,862 156,126

Carrying amount of inventories sold in 
discontinued operation – 1,095,840  

197,862 1,251,966  
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26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other receivables – 19,855 – –
Less: Allowance for doubtful debt – (6,365) – –
Other receivables, net – 13,490 – –
Others 26,009 48,243 1,080 1,455    

Loans and receivables 26,009 61,733 1,080 1,455
Trade and deposits paid – 82,653 – –
Prepayments 11,297 14,116 299 252
Utility and sundry deposits 1,304 582 716 579
VAT and other tax recoverables – 1,730 – –    

38,610 160,814 2,095 2,286    

All of the other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year. Prepayments and 
deposits are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after more than one year.

Impairment losses in respect of other receivables are recorded using an allowance account 
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the 
impairment loss is written off against other loan receivable directly (see note 2(i)) .

As at 31 December 2010, other loans receivable of the Group amounting to HK$6,365,000 
were individually determined to be impaired and full provision had been made. These 
individually impaired receivables were outstanding for more than 1 year.

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed 
terms of repayment.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks/financial  
institutions and on hand 187,239 339,954 24,599 142,676    

Cash and cash equivalents in 
the consolidated statement of 
financial position 187,239 339,954 24,599 142,676    

Deposits with bank carry interest at market rates of 0.5% (2010: 0.32%) per annum. The 
directors consider the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period approximate to their fair value.
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29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The aging of the Group’s accounts payable is analysed as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Outstanding balances with ages
Due within 1 month or on demand 28,574 20,328
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 17,031 34,037  

45,605 54,365  

Accounts payable are interest free and are normally settled on 90-day terms. The carrying 
amounts of accounts payable approximate to their fair values due to their short term maturity 
and measured at amortised cost.

30. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrued salaries, wages and benefits 62 2,319 – –
Accrued expenses 1,481 5,145 410 571
Balance of consideration for 

acquisition of subsidiaries  
(note 40) 12,915 – 12,915 –

Dividend payable 47,850 – – –
Others 65,192 326 – –    

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 127,500 7,790 13,325 571

Rental and other deposit received 14,082 1,265 – –
VAT and other tax payables 1,987 385 – –    

143,569 9,440 13,325 571    

All of the other payables, deposits received and accruals are expected to be settled or 
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.
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31. LIABILITIES ARISING FROM LOAN GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities 1,851 –  

Undue 
liability

provision
(note a)

Guarantee
compensation

provision
(note b) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2011 – – –
Additional provision in the year 903 2,156 3,059
Amount utilized (300) (908) (1,208)   

At 31 December 2011 603 1,248 1,851   

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to Article 31 of Tentative Measures for the Administration of Financing Guarantee Companies, a 
financial guarantee company shall provide 50% of its guarantee income in the year it derived, as undue liability 
provision（「未到期責任準備金」）.

(b) Pursuant to Article 31 of Tentative Measures for the Administration of Financing Guarantee Companies, a 
financial guarantee company shall provide no less than 1% of the year-end balance of the guarantee liability in 
the year it arising as guarantee compensation provision（「擔保賠償準備金」）.
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32. BANK BORROWINGS

At the end of the reporting period, all the bank loans of the Group, which were all obtained in 
PRC and denominated in RMB, are listed as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year or on demand
Bank loans – secured 49,175 4,650
Bank loans – unsecured – 21,153

49,175 25,803

After 1 year but within 2 years
Bank loans – secured – 4,650

After 2 years but within 5 years
Bank loans – secured – 11,627

After 5 years
Bank loans – secured – –

– 16,277  

49,175 42,080  

All of the non-current interest bearing borrowings are carried at amortised cost. None of the 
non-current interest-bearing borrowing is expected to be settled within one year.

The directors consider the carrying value of the amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

Group

2011 2010

Effective interest rates:
Bank loans – secured 6.56% 6.53%
Bank loans – unsecured – 9%

per annum per annum  
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32. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Secured bank borrowings of HK$15,870,000 (2010: HK$20,927,000) were secured by the 
Group’s investment property with a carrying amount of approximately HK$73,959,000 (2010: 
HK$73,959,000). The remaining balance of secured bank borrowings of HK$33,305,000 
(2010: Nil) were secured by corporate guarantee of its subsidiaries.

None of the portion of bank loans of 2010 due for repayment after one year which contain 
a repayment on demand clause and that is classified as a current liability is expected to be 
settled within one year.

33. DEFERRED INCOME

The Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing consultancy services income 14,720 –
Loan guarantee business income 1,555 –  

16,275 –  

Deferred income represents income received under the financing consultancy services and 
the loan guarantee business. Deferred income from the financing consultancy services is 
recognised as revenue when the consultancy services are rendered. Deferred income from the 
loan guarantee business is amortised and recognised as revenue on a straight line basis over 
the guarantee period.
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION

a) The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and the movements during the year are as follow:

Amortisation 
of intangible 

assets 
trademarks

Revaluation of 
investment 

property
Withholding 

tax Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2010 40,014 2,186 – 42,200
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (1,097) 2,017 – 920
Less: Disposal of subsidiaries  

(note 39) (38,917) – – (38,917)    

At 31 December 2010 and  
1 January 2011 – 4,203 – 4,203

Charged to profit or loss – – 3,982 3,982    

At 31 December 2011 – 4,203 3,982 8,185    

b) Withholding tax

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared 
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland 
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty 
between China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable 
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed 
by its subsidiary established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 
January 2008. Deferred tax liabilities is only provided to the extent that such earnings are 
estimated to be distributable in the foreseeable future.

c) Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax losses carried forward are to be 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the tax losses of 
HK$54,253,000 (2010: HK$18,422,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams. The unrecognised tax losses, mainly arising from Hong Kong companies, can be 
carried forward indefinitely.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL

2011 2010
No. of shares HK$’000 No. of shares HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 4,000,000,000 400,000 4,000,000,000 400,000    

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of the year 1,746,002,336 174,600 1,725,902,336 172,590
Shares issued under share option 

scheme (note a) 1,000,000 100 20,100,000 2,010
Share issued pursuant to acquisition 

(note b) 1,250,000,000 125,000 – –    

At end of the year 2,997,002,336 299,700 1,746,002,336 174,600    

a) On 16 March 2011, options were exercised to subscribe for 1,000,000 ordinary shares in 
the company at a consideration of HK$359,000 of which HK$100,000 was credited to 
share capital and the balance of HK$259,000 was credited to the share premium account. 
As a result of the exercise of such share options, HK$216,300 is also transferred from the 
share-based compensation reserve to the share premium account.

b) On 21 June 2011, the Company acquired the entire issued capital of K.P. Financial 
Group Limited, as detailed in note 40, at consideration of HK$800,000,000, in which 
HK$700,000,000 was satisfied by issuance of 1,250,000,000 shares of the company at 
fair value of HK$0.56 each.

HK$125 million was credited to share capital and the balance of HK$575 million was 
credited to the share premium account.
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36. SHARE OPTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 19 March 2003, the Company adopted a share 
option scheme (“Old Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to which the directors of the Company 
were authorised to grant share options to full-time employees (including executive directors) of 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 7 June 2004, the Old Share Option Scheme was terminated and a new share option 
scheme (“New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted. The purpose of the New Share Option 
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant option to eligible participants in order to reward 
or provide incentives to its employees or any person who has contributed or will contribute to 
the Group. The New Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for the period commencing 
from 7 June 2004 and expiring at the close of business on the tenth anniversary thereof, after 
such period no further options will be granted but the provisions of the New Share Option 
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in respect of any options granted before its expiry 
or termination but not yet exercised.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may offer to any 
employees or any person who has contributions to the Group including directors of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries share options to subscribe for shares in the Company in 
accordance with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted under 
the New Share Option Scheme shall not, when aggregate with any shares subject to any 
other schemes, exceed such number of shares as represents 10% of the issued shares as at 
the date of approval of the New Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) which 
shall be equivalent to 67,725,155 shares. On 28 April 2005, the Scheme Mandate Limit was 
refreshed to 101,587,733 shares. The Company may seek approval from the shareholders 
in a general meeting to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit. However, the total number of 
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under all of the 
schemes of the Company or its subsidiaries under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% 
of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme Mandate Limit. Share options 
previously granted under the New Share Scheme (excluding those outstanding, cancelled, 
lapsed in accordance with the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes 
and exercised the share options) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme 
Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options 
granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and any other scheme 
of the Company must not exceed 10% except seeking separate approval by its shareholders in 
general meeting for granting further options. Moreover in any case, must not exceed 30% of 
the total issued share capital from time to time.
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of share options granted 
and to be granted in any 12-month period up to the date of grant of each eligible participant 
(including both exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the total issued 
shares.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and shall not be less than 
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the 
average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date 
of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

On 17 May 2004 and 7 July 2004, 38,000,000 share options granted to the executive directors 
and 1,000,000 share options granted to the continuous contract employees outstanding under 
the Old Share Option Scheme were lapsed respectively.

On 10 January 2005, 2 February 2005 and 1 September 2005, the Company granted in 
aggregate 99,500,000 share options to its directors and employees under the New Share 
Option Scheme. Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date of grant, upon 
payment of HK$1 by each of the grantees. The options may be exercised at any time after date 
of grant of the share options to the half past-ninth anniversary of the date of grant.

On 4 October 2007, the Company granted 68,500,000 share options to its directors and 
employees under the New Share Option Scheme. Options granted must be taken up within 21 
days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 by each of the grantees. The options may be 
exercised at any time after twelve months from the date of grant of the share options to the 
tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

On 22 October 2010, the Company granted 36,000,000 share options to the eligible 
grantees under the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2004, subject to 
acceptance of the Grantees. The Share Options shall entitle the Grantees to subscribe for a 
total of 36,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company.
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options granted under the 
New Share Option Scheme and movements in such holdings:

Category of 
grantee

Exercise 
price 

per share Date of grant Exercisable period
Contractual 

life of option
HK$

Directors 0.479 4 October 2007 4 October 2007 to  
3 October 2017

10 years

0.359 22 October 2010 22 October 2010 to  
21 October 2020

10 years

Employees 0.126 10 January 2005 10 January 2005 to  
6 June 2014

9.5 years

0.479 4 October 2007 4 October 2007 to  
3 October 2017

10 years

0.359 22 October 2010 22 October 2010 to  
21 October 2020

10 years

a)  The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by 
employees and directors during year.

Option type
Outstanding

at 1/1/11

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Forfeited
during

the year

Expired
during

the year
Outstanding
at 31/12/11

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

2007 63,000 – – – – 63,000
2010 35,000 – (1,000) – – 34,000      

98,000 – (1,000) – – 97,000      

Exercisable at the end 
of the year 97,000 

Weighted average 
exercise price HK$0.442 – HK$0.359 – – HK$0.437      
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (continued)

a) (continued)

The following share options granted under the employee share option plan were 
exercised in the current year:–

Options type
Number
exercised

Exercise 
date

Share 
price at 

exercise date

2010 1,000,000 16/3/2011 HK$0.44 

b) Fair value of share options at measurement date

The fair value of services received in return of share options granted are measured by 
reference to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of 
the services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The 
contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model.

Grand dates Director Employee Director Employee
4 October 4 October 22 October 22 October

2007 2007 2010 2010

Fair value of shares options and 
assumptions:

Fair value at measurement date (HK$) 0.235 0.235 0.216 0.216
Share price (HK$) 0.470 0.470 0.355 0.355
Exercise price (HK$) 0.479 0.479 0.359 0.359
Expected volatility (expressed at  

a weighed average volatility used  
in the modelling under the  
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model) 68.60% 68.60% 103.93% 103.93%

Option life 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years
Expected dividends 0% 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (based on 

Exchange Fund Notes) 4.31% 4.31% 0.58% 0.58%
Expected forfeiture rate 0% 0% 0% 0%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted 
average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to future 
volatility due to publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on publicly 
available information. Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in 
the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This condition has not been taken 
into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. There 
were no market conditions associated with the share option grants.
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37. RESERVES

Group

Other 
comprehensive income 

Share 
premium

Share-
based 

compensation 
reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Attributable 
to owners 

of the 
Company

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2010 287,362 16,914 11,192 9,014 1,104 238,657 564,243 104,216 668,459
Shares issued under share 

option scheme 3,125 (2,369) – – – – 756 – 756
Decrease in non-controlling 

interests arising on disposal 
of interest in a subsidiary 
(note 39) – – – – – – – (103,626) (103,626)

Decrease in exchange 
fluctuation reserve arising 
on disposal of interest in a 
subsidiary (note 39) – – (7,335) – – – (7,335) – (7,335)

Decrease in statutory surplus 
reserve arising on disposal 
of interest in a subsidiary 
(note 39) – – – – (493) – (493) – (493)

Equity settled share-based 
transactions – 7,788 – – – – 7,788 – 7,788

Exchange adjustment – – 7,639 – – – 7,639 932 8,571
Profit for the year – – – – – 25,355 25,355 6,791 32,146
Fair value adjustment  

for financial assets – – – (6,724) – – (6,724) – (6,724)         

At 31 December 2011 and  
1 January 2011 290,487 22,333 11,496 2,290 611 264,012 591,229 8,313 599,542

Exchange adjustment – – 18,169 – – – 18,169 269 18,438
Fair value adjustment  

for available-for-sale 
financial assets – – – (5,041) – – (5,041) – (5,041)

Profit for the year – – – – – 57,302 57,302 2,073 59,375
Equity settled share-based 

transactions 475 (216) – – – – 259 – 259
Issue of shares pursuant to 

acquisition 574,980 – – – – – 574,980 – 574,980
Increase in non-controlling 

interest arising on 
acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – 20,153 20,153

Application of white  
wash waver (250) – – – 8,576 (8,576) (250) – (250)

Pre-acquisition dividend – – – – – – – 122 122         

At 31 December 2011 865,692 22,117 29,665 (2,751) 9,187 312,738 1,236,648 30,930 1,267,578         
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37. RESERVES (continued)

Company

Share
premium

Share-based
compensation

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2010 287,362 16,914 74,117 378,393
Share issued under share  

option scheme 3,125 (2,369) – 756
Equity settled share-based 

transactions – 7,788 – 7,788
Profit for the year – – 2,542 2,542    

At 31 December 2010 and  
1 January 2011 290,487 22,333 76,659 389,479

Application of white wash waiver (250) – – (250)
Issue of new shares pursuant  

to acquisition 574,970 – – 574,970
Equity settled share-based 

transactions 475 (216) – 259
Profit for the year – – 44,665 44,665    

At 31 December 2011 865,682 22,117 121,324 1,009,123    

At 31 December 2011, the Company has reserve available for distribution to shareholders as 
calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance at HK$121,324,000 (2010: HK$76,659,000).

Nature and purpose of reserves

i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by Section 48B of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

ii) Share-based compensation reserve

The share-based compensation reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated 
number of unexercised share options granted to employees of a subsidiary recognised in 
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments set out in note 
2(x)(ii).

iii) Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is 
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(q).
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37. RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

iv) Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale securities held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance 
with the accounting policies in note 2(k).

v) Statutory surplus reserve

According to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, the PRC company is 
required to transfer 10% of its net profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the 
PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve. When the balance 
of the statutory surplus reserve reaches 50% of the PRC company’s registered capital, 
any further appropriation is optional. The transfer to this reserve must be made before 
distribution of a dividend to the shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up previous years’ losses, if any, and may 
be converted into capital in proportion to their existing shareholdings, provided that the 
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the 
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under 
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the 
defined benefit retirement plan. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan 
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees 
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, 
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest 
immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed 
retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries of the 
Group are required to contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement 
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.
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39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 19 August 2010, the Group disposed K.P.I.(BVI) Retail Management Company Limited 
(“KPIRM”) a subsidiary, which carried out the entire supermarket operation, of the Group 
through Hualian GMS, the subsidiary of KPIRM’s subsidiary Bestjoy International Limited.

2010
HK$’000

Consideration received
Total consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 503,912 

Analysis of asset and liabilities over which control was lost

19 August 
2010

HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 71,030
Intangible assets (note 16) 155,669
Long term lease prepayment 7,596
Goodwill (note 18) 377,972

Current assets
Inventories 112,056
Prepayment and other receivables 381,751
Cash and cash equivalents 621,678

Current liabilities
Trade payables (504,235)
Other payables, deposit received and accruals (502,839)
Tax payables (1,001)
Short term bank loans (57,314)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxation (note 34(a)) (38,917) 

Net assets disposed of 623,446 
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39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Year ended 
31 December 

2010
HK$’000

Consideration received and receivable 503,912
Net assets disposed of (623,446)
Non-controlling interests 103,626
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of  

the net assets of the subsidiaries reclassified  
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of subsidiary 493

Cumulative statutory surplus reserve in respect of  
the subsidiaries being disposed reclassified  
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of subsidiary 7,335 

Loss on disposal (note 9) (8,080) 

The loss on disposal is included in the profit for the year from discontinued operations in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (note 9) .

Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary

2010
HK$’000

Consideration received 503,912
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of (621,678) 

(117,766) 
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 27 January 2011, K.P.B. Group Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into an Acquisition Agreement with the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Cheung 
Siu Lam, to acquire the entire issued capital of K.P. Financial Group Limited (“K.P. Financial”) 
which indirectly has beneficial interests in 70% of the equity interests in Beijing Huifeng 
Rongjin Credit Finance Company Limited（北京惠豐融金小額貸款有限公司）, 100% of the 
equity interests in Beijing Zhong Jin Tou Management Consultancy Company Limited（北京中
金投財務諮詢有限公司）(formerly known as 北京港佳匯通財務諮詢有限公司) and 100% of 
the equity interests in Beijing Huaxia Xingye Investment Guarantee Company Limited（北京華
夏興業投資擔保有限公司）（「華夏興業投資擔保」）. Beijing Huifeng Rongjin Credit Finance 
Company Limited is principally engaged in the provision of small loan services in Miyun county, 
Beijing, PRC, Beijing Huaxia Xingye Investment Guarantee Company Limited is principally 
engaged in the provision of loan guarantee services to individuals and corporation.

The acquisition was completed on 21 June 2011 upon the fulfilment of the conditions 
agreed and the completion of the transfer of the entire registered capital of Beijing Huaxia 
Xingye Investment Guarantee Company Limited to the Company. The acquisition costs of 
HK$800,000,000 was satisfied (i) as to HK$100,000,000 in cash payable within 6 months after 
the date of completion and (ii) as to HK$700,000,000 by issuance of 1,250,000,000 shares of 
the Company at fair value of HK$0.56 each. The fair value of these shares is equivalent to the 
closing market value as at 21 June 2011.

K.P. Financial and its subsidiaries as at the date of acquisition (collectively “K.P. Financial 
Group”) and 華夏興業投資擔保 additional contributed approximately HK$109,271,000 to the 
Group’s revenue and approximately HK$37,184,000 to the Group’s net profit after taxation for 
the period between the date of acquisition and the date of the statement of financial position.

The revenue and profit after taxation (excluding non-controlling interest) of K.P. Financial 
Group and 華夏興業投資擔保 for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounting to 
HK$159,925,000 and HK$90,502,000 respectively. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 
January 2011, the Group’s revenue would have been HK$458,934,000, and profit after 
taxation (excluding non-controlling interest) would have been HK$115,843,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2011. The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is 
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of the Group that actually would have 
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011, nor is it intended to be 
a projection of future results.
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

HK$’000

Total consideration – satisfied by
Cash consideration 100,000
Issue of new shares of the company 700,000 

800,000
Add: Non-controlling interests, being held 30% equity interest in  

sub-subsidiary Beijing Huifeng Rongjin Credit Finance  
Company Limited 18,413

Less: Fair value of Identifiable net assets (195,710) 

Goodwill on acquisition (note 18) 622,703 

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$2,039,725 have been excluded from the 
consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expenses in the current year, within 
the ‘other operating expenses’ line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

An analysis of the net assets acquired is as follows:

Acquiree’s 
carrying 
amount 

before
combination

Fair value 
adjustment Fair value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 208 – 208
Deferred assets 1,104 – 1,104
Accounts receivable 11,652 – 11,652
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 52,420 – 52,420
Short-term loans receivable 58,404 – 58,404
Interests receivable 855 – 855
Cash and cash equivalents 145,453 – 145,453
Deferred income (389) – (389)
Accounts payables (134) – (134)
Other payables, deposits received and accruals (56,356) – (56,356)
Tax payables (17,032) – (17,032)
Liabilities arising from loan guarantee contracts (475) – (475)   

195,710 – 195,710   
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of combination included amount 
in relation to the benefits from business network with commercial banks and business 
associates, customer service capability, the provision of solid sources of funding, network 
growth and future market development. These benefits are not recognised separately from 
goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

HK$’000

Cash consideration paid (100,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 145,453 

45,453 

Contingent liabilities arising from acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB26,000,000 equivalent to 
approximately HK$32,071,000 in relation to the provision of loan guarantee services in the 
PRC.

41. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment property 73,959 –  

The Group intends to dispose of investment property on 31 March 2012. The investment 
property located at No. 88, Xi San Wan Road North, Hai Ding District, Beijing. The investment 
property was revalued at RMB63 million (equivalent to approximately HK$74 million) on 31 
October 2011, which was equivalent to the consideration of the disposal.

The disposal transaction has not yet been completed at the end of the reporting period. 
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Commercial Property dated 
28 February 2012, the disposal transaction will be completed on 31 March 2012.
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

a) As lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15 to the financial statements), sub-
lease its shop premises of convenience stores chain operations and golf club membership 
under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms of one to fifteen 
years for investment property, one to ten years for shop premises of convenience stores 
chain operations and one to two years for golf club membership. The terms of the leases 
generally also require the lessees to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent 
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables 
under non-cancellable operating leases with its lessees falling due as follows:

Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 11,248 8,858
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 23,064 14,484
After the fifth year 9,238 10,126  

43,550 33,468  
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, director’s quarter and shop premises of 
convenience stores chain operation and short term financing operation under operating 
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to 
twenty years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company had total future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 36,369 11,882 755 1,510
In the second to fifth years, 

inclusive 54,937 15,492 – 727
After the fifth year 11,484 10,126 – –    

102,790 37,500 755 2,237    

43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities of RMB104,950,000 equivalent to approximately 
HK$129,450,000 (2010: Nil), and recognised RMB488,516 (2010: Nil) equivalent to 
approximately HK$603,000 and RMB1,011,910 (2010: Nil) equivalent to HK$1,248,000 as 
undue liability provision and guarantee compensation provision respectively in the consolidated 
statement of financial position in relation to the provision of loan guarantee service in China. 
The corresponding deferred income received from the business is disclosed in Note 33.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

a) Related party transactions included in the statement of comprehensive income:

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental expenses to a company controlled by 
directors (note) – 332  

Note: Rental expenses for two directors were paid to a company controlled by them. The monthly rental of 
HK$83,000 was calculated by reference to open market rental. The rental expenses were fully settled up 
to 30 April 2010.

b) Remuneration of key management personnel of the Group

2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 3,944 3,512
Post-employment benefit 12 12
Share-based payments expenses – 216  

3,956 3,740  

Note: Further details of pension scheme contribution and directors’ emoluments are included in note 7 to the 
financial statements.

45. BANKING FACILITIES

During 2011, the Group was granted banking facilities aggregating to approximately 
HK$49,175,000 (2010: HK$42,080,000), of which approximately HK15,870,000 (2010: 
HK$20,927,000) is secured by an investment property (note 15) . At 31 December 2011, the 
banking facilities were fully utilised.
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46. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are described in note 2, 
the following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimated uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year.

i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and land lease premium

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, 
which requires significant judgement relating to level of revenue and amount of 
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an 
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including 
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of 
revenue and operating costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant 
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result in additional impairment 
charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is HK$11,368,000 (2010: 
HK$3,624,000) (see note 13 for details) .

ii) Estimated fair value of investment property

The investment property was revalued at the end of the reporting period on market 
value of existing use basis by independent qualified valuers. Such valuations were 
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially 
differ from the actual results. In making the judgement, the Group considers 
information from current prices in an active market for similar properties and uses 
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each end of the 
reporting period.

The carry ing amount of investment property i s HK$73,959,000 (2010: 
HK$73,959,000) (see note 15 for details) .
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46. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

iii) Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in 
use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value 
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a 
material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2011, the carrying amount 
of goodwill is HK$622,703,000 (2010: HK$Nil) (see note 18 for details) .

iv) Impairment of receivables

The Group maintains impairment allowance for doubtful debts based upon 
evaluation of the recoverability of the accounts receivables and other receivables, 
where applicable, at each end of the reporting period. The estimates are based 
on the aging of the accounts receivables and other receivables balances and the 
historical write-off experience, net of recoveries. If the financial condition of the 
debtors were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be required.

v) Impairment losses on short-term loans receivable

The provisioning policy for impairment of short-term loans receivable of the Group 
is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of the receivables 
and on management’s judgments. A considerable amount of judgment is required 
in assessing the ultimate realization of short-term loans receivable from these 
customers, if applicable, including the current creditworthiness and the past 
collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of 
the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make 
payments, additional provision for impairment may be required. As at 31 December 
2011, the carrying amount of short-term loan receivables is HK$809,596,000 (2010: 
HK$186,209,000).

Short-term loans receivable mainly include financing advances provided to customers 
which are secured by real estate. Apart from assessing the financial positions of 
customers, the management further reviews value of the pledged real estate by 
reference to recent market transactions in comparable properties. If the market 
value of secured real estate is deteriorated and is below the carrying amount of the 
corresponding financing advances, provision on impairment may be required.
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46. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

vi) Estimated fair value of available-for-sale investments

The fair value of financial instruments in active markets (such as trading securities) 
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the closing bid price at 
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active market is 
determined based on available recent market information such as most recent 
market transaction price with third parties and the latest available financial 
information existing at each end of the reporting period.

vii) Write down of inventories

The management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end of each reporting 
period and write down inventories to net realisable value. Management estimates 
the net realisable value for such items based primarily on the latest invoice prices 
and current market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a 
product-by-product basis at each statement of financial position date and make 
allowance for obsolete items.

viii) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets requires formal assessment by the Group of 
the future profitability of related operations. In making this judgement, the Group 
evaluates, amongst other factors, the forecast financial performance, changes in 
operational and financing cashflows.

ix) Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are trademarks for convenience chain stores operations. 
They are amortised over their estimated useful lives. The valuation and estimated 
useful lives of trademarks is dependent on a number of assumptions and 
judgements, such as expected cash flows, customer attrition, and royalty rates, 
variations in which could produce different values and/or useful lives.
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46. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

x) Income taxes

As at 31 December 2011, no deferred tax asset (2010: Nil) in relation to unused tax 
losses HK$54,253,000 (2010: HK$18,422,000) has been recognised in the Group 
consolidated statement of financial position due to the unpredictability of future 
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether 
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the 
future.

xi) Provision for loan guarantees

When determining the amounts to be recognised in respect of liabilities arising 
from the loan guarantee business, the Article 31 of Tentative Measures for the 
Administration of Financing Guarantee Companies. As at 31 December 2011, 
liabilities arising from the loan guarantee business are HK$1,851,000 (2010: Nil). 
Where the actual defaults on loan guarantees are higher than expected, a material 
loss may arise (see note 31 for details of loan guarantee contracts).

b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities, the Group makes 
assumptions for the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period. These estimates involve assumptions about such items 
as cash flows and discount rates used. The Group’s estimates and assumptions are based 
on historical experience and expectations of future events and are reviewed periodically. 
In addition to assumptions and estimations of future events, judgements are also made 
during the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Certain available-for-sale financial assets are stated at cost less impairment. Judgement 
is required when determining whether an impairment existed. In making this judgement, 
historical data and factors such as industry and sector performance and financial 
information regarding the investee are taken into account.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments, cash and cash equivalents, 
borrowings, accounts receivable, other receivables, short-term loans receivable, interests 
receivable, accounts payable, other payables, liabilities arising from loan guarantee contracts 
and tax payable. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The 
risks associated with these financial instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk, currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set 
out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

a) Credit risk

i) Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy 
of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, 
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

ii) As at 31 December 2011, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial 
position after deducting any impairment allowance.

iii) In respect of accounts receivable, other receivables, short-term loans receivable, and 
interests receivable in order to minimise risk, the management has a credit policy 
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. 
Credit evaluations of its customers’ financial position and condition are performed 
on each and every major customer periodically. These evaluations focus on the 
customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, 
and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to 
the economic environment in which the customer operates. The Group does not 
require collateral in respect of accounts receivable, other receivables. Debts are 
usually due within 30 days from the date of billing. In addition, the management 
of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual at the end of 
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the 
Group and the Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

iv) In respect of accounts receivable, other receivables, short-term loans receivable 
and interests receivable, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly 
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry 
and country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk. At the 
end of the reporting period, the Group had no significant concentrations of credit 
risk which individual balance exceeds 10% of the total accounts receivable, other 
receivables, short term loans receivable and interests receivable at the end of the 
reporting period.

v) The majority of the Group’s investments are liquid securities listed on the recognised 
stock exchanges. No exposure to credit risk is expected.

vi) The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

vii) Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk 
arising from accounts receivables, interests receivable, short-terms loans receivable 
and other receivables are set out in notes 20, 21, 22 and 26.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

b) Liquidity risk

The Group is responsible for its own cash management, including the short term 
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demand, 
subject to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected 
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major 
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The 
Group relies on bank borrowings as the major source of liquidity.

The following liquidity table set out the remaining contractual maturities at the end of 
the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, 
based on rates current at the statement of financial position date) and the earliest date 
the Group and the Company required to pay:

Group

2011 2010

More than More than Total More than More than Total

Within 1 1 year but 2 years but contractual Within 1 1 year but 2 years but contractual

year or on less than less than More than undiscounted Carrying year or on less than less than undiscounted Carrying

demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount demand 2 years 5 years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liability

Bank borrowings  

– variable rates 55,001 – – – 55,001 49,175 25,803 4,954 14,056 44,813 42,080

Account and other payables 189,174 – – – 189,174 189,174 63,805 – – 63,805 63,805

Liabilities arising from loan 

guarantee contracts 1,851 – – – 1,851 1,851 – – – – –

Tax payable 35,011 – – – 35,011 35,011 1,510 – – 1,510 1,510           

281,037 – – – 281,037 275,211 91,118 4,954 14,056 110,128 107,395           

Company

2011 2010

More than Total More than Total

Within 1 1 year but contractual Within 1 1 year but contractual

year or on less than undiscounted Carrying year or on less than undiscounted Carrying

demand 2 years cash flow amount demand 2 years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative  

Financial liability

Other payables 13,325 – – 13,325 571 – 571 571
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

c) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank 
borrowings (see note 32 for details of these borrowings).

i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the 
Company’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period:

Group

2011 2010
Effective 
interest 

rates

Effective 
interest 

rates
% HK$’000 % HK$‘000

Variable rate 
Borrowings:
Bank loans 6.56% 33,305 6.53% 42,080  

Variable rate bank 
balances and 
deposit 0.5% 205,742 0.36% 339,954  

ii) Sensitivity analysis

All of the bank loans of the Group which are fixed rate instruments are insensitive to 
any change in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the end of the reporting 
period would not affect profit or loss.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 
basis points in interest rates for variable rate bank balances and deposits and bank 
borrowings, with all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the 
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by approximately HK$875,740 (2010: 
HK$1,154,000). Other components of consolidated equity would not change in 
response to the general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming 
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were 
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points (2010: 100 basis points) increase 
or decrease in interest rates is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2010.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which 
give rise to receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign 
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which 
the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk is United States dollars (“US 
dollar”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

However, since the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United States 
dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the United 
States against other currencies. Therefore, the currency risk arising from US dollar is 
remote.

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign exchange transactions 
involving RMB must take place through the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) or other 
institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The exchange rate adopted for 
foreign exchange transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by the PBOC that would 
be subject to a managed float against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance of earnings outside the PRC, are 
subject to the availability of foreign currency (which depends on the foreign currency 
denominated earnings of the Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with 
government approval.

All the revenue-generating subsidiaries of the Company are transacted in RMB. 
Depreciation or appreciation of the RMB against foreign currencies can affect the Group’s 
results. The Group did not hedge its currency exposure.

e) Equity price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 24)  and available-for-sale 
investments (see note 19) .

The Group's listed investments are listed on the recognised stock exchanges. Decisions 
to buy or sell financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are based on daily 
monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared to that of the Index and 
other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs. Listed investments held 
in the available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen based on their longer term growth 
potential and are monitored regularly for performance against expectations. The portfolio 
is diversified in terms of industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set by the 
Group.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

e) Equity price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease) of 10% (2010: 10%) 
in the relevant stock market index (for listed investments), the price/earning ratios of 
comparable listed companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other 
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s profit after tax and 
retained profit as follows:

Group

2011 2010
Effect on 

profit after 
tax and 

retained 
profits

Effect on 
profit after 

tax and 
retained 

profits
HK$’000 HK$’000

Change in the relevant 
equity price risk 
variable:
Increase 10% 5,487 10% 6,723
Decrease (10)% (5,487) (10)% (6,723)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax 
and retained profits that would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market index 
or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had 
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose 
the Group to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that 
the fair values of the Group’s equity investments would change in accordance with the 
historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables, 
that none of the group’s available-for-sale investments would be considered impaired as 
a result of the decrease in the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk variables, 
and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis 
for 2010.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

f) Fair values

i) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of financial instruments measured at 
fair value at the end of the reporting period across the three levels of the fair value 
hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value 
of each financial instrument categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of 
input that is significant to that fair value measurement. The levels are defined as 
follows:

• Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical financial instruments

• Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active markets for similar 
financial instruments, or using valuation techniques in which all significant 
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable market data

• Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using valuation techniques in which 
any significant input is not based on observable market date

2011 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Financial assets at fair 

value through profit 

or loss 3,898 – – 3,898 35,558 – – 35,558

Available-for-sale 

investments 61,814 – – 61,814 44,961 – – 44,961        

65,712 – – 65,712 80,519 – – 80,519
        

During the year there were no significant transfers between instruments in Level 1 to 
Level 2 or Level 3.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

f) Fair values (continued)

ii) Fair value of financial instruments carried at other then fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments 
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as 
at 31 December 2010 and 2011.

g) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that entities in the Group 
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders 
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The management reviews the 
capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 
class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through 
the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the 
redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and appropriate.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net 
debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position plus net debt. During 2011, the Group’s strategy, which was 
unchanged from 2010, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 3% to 6%. The gearing 
ratios as at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 were as follows:

Group Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing bank loans 49,175 42,080 – –    

Total borrowings 49,175 42,080 – –    

Total equity 1,567,278 774,142 1,308,823 564,079    

Gearing ratio 3.14% 5.44% N/A N/A    

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (continued)

h) Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair 
values of the following financial instruments.

i) Listed securities

Fair value is based on listed market price at the end of the reporting period without 
any deduction for transaction costs.

ii) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at 
current market interest rates for similar financial instruments.

48. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The directors regard Mr. Cheung Siu Lam through his direct shareholding in the Company as 
being the ultimate controlling party. The Company does not have any parent company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 
financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements and reclassified or 
restated as appropriate, is set out below.

Year ended 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Turnover 382,127 217,022 2,073,083 1,777,062 662,288     

Profit for the year 59,375 32,146 42,614 255,874 6,317     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 57,302 25,355 26,303 247,686 6,330
Non-controlling interest 2,073 6,791 16,311 8,188 (13)     

59,375 32,146 42,614 255,874 6,317     

As at 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 1,866,949 885,740 2,087,814 1,821,954 715,097
Total liabilities (299,671) (111,598) (1,246,765) (1,040,167) (327,365)
Non-controlling interest (30,930) (8,313) (104,216) (87,647) (9,710)     

Balance of total equity 
attributable to owners of  
the Company 1,536,348 765,829 736,833 694,140 378,022     

Financial Summary
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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